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1  Catholic Social Justice series No. 39, 2000, Publication of the Catholic Institute of Sydney.  
2  Seven Secrets of Successful Stewards by Paul Wilkes St Anthony Messenger Press - August 2005. 
3  US Catholic Bishops’ “Stewardship”. 

Telling others of our experience of the risen Christ, and recognising him in the Eucharist 
is a theme that we have linked to this annual reporting process; 

one that is reflected in the three extracts below. 
 
 
 

“The dismissal (‘Go in peace to love and serve the Lord’) 
sends the assembly forth, bishop, priest, deacon, baptised, 

to be in the world as they have become in the Eucharist. 
The formula is so rapid it almost compels us outside to share that nourishment 
we have received and pursue that transformation the Spirit has wrought in us. 

We should have eyes for the blind, a heart for the foreign woman with the sick daughter, 
a tongue on behalf of the silenced, a place at table for the hungry, 

and an aching that is able to lament.” 1 
 
 

This annual report is part of sharing that nourishment. 
 
 

“I love that adage, attributed to St Francis, 
‘Preach the gospel, and use words if necessary.’ 

That is how good stewards share this bountiful life with God in Christ. 
Not by mouthing pious words, but by actions that speak to the deepest parts of us. 

Good stewardship calls out to us all. 
It’s possible, exciting, fulfilling, while bringing us 

closer to the giver of the gifts we have been given.” 2 
 
 

This annual report is about telling others of our actions. 
 
 

“A Christian steward is one who receives God’s gifts gratefully, 
cherishes and tends them in a responsible and accountable manner, 

shares them in justice and love with others and returns them with increase to the Lord.” 3 
 
 

This annual report is part of being a Christian steward. 

The work of Catherine Riley, Sister Mary Catherwood RSM, Sister Mary Wood RSM, Charles Shaw, 
in developing this continuing theme is gratefully acknowledged. 

The theme reflects two significant events, which were so much part of the reporting year. 
The “Year of the Eucharist” which the Holy Father called on the universal Church to mark 

from October 2004 until October 2005. 

The Centennial of our own Mother Church, the Cathedral of the Blessed Sacrament during 2005.  
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The Roman Catholic Bishop of the Diocese of Christchurch is a corporation sole established in 
civil law under the statutory authority of the Roman Catholic Bishops Empowering Act 1997. 
 
 
Section 5 of the 1997 Act provides: 
 

“The Bishop of a diocese is a corporation sole, with perpetual succession and a seal 
of office, and has and may exercise all the rights, powers and privileges, and may 
incur all liabilities, of a natural person of full age and capacity.” 

 
 
 
 
The Code of Canon Law, the law of the Church, is understandably more specific as to role, 
authority and power of the Bishop. 
 
 
 
 
The Code of Canon Law provides: 
 
 
At Canon 375 § 1: 
 

“By divine institution, Bishops succeed the Apostles through the Holy Spirit who is 
given to them. They are constituted Pastors in the Church, to be the teachers of 
doctrine, the priests of sacred worship and the ministers of governance.” 

 
 
At Canon 381 § 1: 
 

“In the diocese entrusted to his care, the diocesan Bishop has all the ordinary, 
proper and immediate power required for the exercise of his pastoral office, except 
in those matters which the law or a decree of the Supreme Pontiff reserves to the 
supreme or to some other ecclesiastical authority.” 

 
 
 
 
Against that background the Roman Catholic Bishop of the Diocese of Christchurch reports on his 
pastoral initiatives and governance responsibilities to his priests, Christ’s faithful and the 
organisations and individuals that support his work, both financially and spiritually, in the diocese. 

Catholic Diocese 
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John Jerome Cunneen 
Catholic Diocese 

of Christchurch 

THE ROMAN CATHOLIC BISHOP OF 
THE DIOCESE OF CHRISTCHURCH 

  
 

“Faithful in Service” 
 

John Jerome Cunneen had been named Titular Bishop of Annaghdown and 
Auxiliary Bishop in Christchurch in 1992. He was named the eighth Bishop of 
Christchurch in 1996 following the decision of Bishop Basil Meeking to 
seek early retirement. Bishop Cunneen asked Monsignor James 
Harrington, whom he had known since boyhood to give some 
thought to a coat-of-arms design, to reflect his chosen motto 
‘Faithful in Service’. 
 
Monsignor Harrington’s task began with a check of Mullin’s 
Heraldic Scroll of Ireland, but it seemed the Cunneen 
family was not entitled to bear arms. So the coat-of-
arms’ had to be one of the ‘homemade’ variety. 
 
The principal motifs for the crest were suggested 
by one of the questions asked of a bishop-elect 
at his ordination: ‘Are you resolved to sustain 
the people of God; and guide them in the 
way of salvation ... ?’ Symbolising 
sustenance and plenty, the sheaf of wheat 
on a field of gold also recalls the 
association of the Cunneen family with 
the former Wheatsheaf Hotel, New 
Headford, and the wheat fields of Mid-
Canterbury where the Bishop grew up.  
Symbolising salvation, the Celtic cross 
on a field of green recalls Ireland, the 
homeland of his forebears, the ancient 
bishopric of Annaghdown, and his 
links with All Hallows College, Dublin, 
where he completed his theological 
studies for the priesthood. 
 
The shepherd’s crook is a symbol of 
the Bishop’s pastoral office. He is ‘to 
keep watch over the whole flock’; he is 
‘to shepherd the Church of God.’ The 
top panel suggests the principal 
features of Canterbury and Westland, 
which together with the Chatham 
Islands comprises the Diocese of 
Christchurch. A mitre, from the rear of 
which hang two lappets, surmounts 
the crest.4 

4 Acknowledgement:- Monsignor James Harrington 
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Can 369 
 
“A diocese is a portion of the people of God, which is entrusted to a Bishop to be nurtured by 
him, with the co-operation of the presbyterium, in such a way that, remaining close to its 
pastor and gathered by him through the Gospel and the Eucharist in the Holy Spirit, it 
constitutes a particular Church. In this Church, the one holy, catholic and apostolic Church of 
Christ truly exists and functions.” 
 
Can 372 § 1 
 
“As a rule, that portion of the people of God, which constitutes a diocese or other particular 
Church is to have a defined territory, so that it comprises all the faithful who live in that 
territory.” 
 
 
Located in the central South Island (refer fig 1) the Catholic Diocese of Christchurch covers an area 
of 5.4155m hectares and includes the Chatham Island group located some 860km to the east. The 
usually resident population within the diocesan boundaries is 484,626. The Catholic population is 
66,237.5 

5 2002 Census of Population and Dwellings (2001 Areas), Statistics New Zealand 
6 Fig 1 - Cartography by Terralink International, copyright 2005 

The work of the Diocese is substantially delivered through 51 parishes each headed by a priest. 
However religious & lay communities, a relatively small number of paid employees, and a significant 
number of volunteers support this work. 

 Area 5.4155m hectares 

 Population 66,237 

 Parishes - 51 

 Lay Communities - 1 

 Schools - 37 

 Hospitals & Homes - 4 

fig 16 

Chatham Islands 
860km 

Catholic Diocese of Christchurch 

Catholic Diocese 

of Christchurch Our Diocese 
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Dear Brothers and Sisters of Christ in the Diocesan Family, 
 
Our prayers for the Coadjutor Bishop for the Diocese will be, we are confident, 
suitably heard by God our loving Father.  The other two prayer campaigns are 
for vocations to the priesthood and for the Diocesan Pastoral Plan being 
carefully constructed at this time. 
 
A welcome development has been the transfer of Catholic Social Services from 
192 Montreal Street to more suitable premises at 336 Cashel Street.  Gratitude 
is expressed to those arranging the transfer and to the Manager, Jon Brian and 
the staff, volunteers and helpers who are the Church’s face and hands to the 
needy. 
 
The Catholic Education Office continues to play a mammoth role in promoting 
the Church’s teaching focused on the Ministry of the Word.  Their field officers, 
along with Maria Rohs and Phil Gourdie, are invaluable in fostering links 
between the suburbs and provinces with the centre.  There Paddy Beban, Mike 
Nolan, Mike Stopforth, Liz Pennell and Janice Rennell, capably supported by 
their teams, share their gifts and talents in forwarding the mission of the Church. 
 
The commitment of priests to their God given task is a greatly valued treasure 
for our Diocese.  The witness of religious women and men brings to them the 
Lord’s abundant blessings as do the loyal faith-filled support of the laity, young 
and elderly. 
 
We have much to be thankful for. 
 
 
Every best wish, 
Sincerely, 

 
John Cunneen 
Bishop of Christchurch  

Foreword 
Catholic Diocese 

of Christchurch 
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Bishop Most Reverend John Cunneen DD 

Bishop Emeritus Most Reverend Basil Meeking DD 

Vicar General Reverend Monsignor Gerard O’Connor 

Chancellor Reverend Monsignor James Harrington 

College of Consultors Reverend Peter Costello 
 Reverend William Grounds (RIP - 16.04.05) 
 Reverend Monsignor James Harrington 
 Reverend Bede Haughey 
 Reverend Monsignor Barry Jones 
 Reverend Rick Loughnan 
 Reverend Monsignor Gerard O’Connor  

Diocesan Management and Finance Board  Geoff Bailey, Chairman  
 Greg Bevin (from 01.07.05) 
 Stephen Boock (from 10.06.05) 
 Robin Corcoran 
 Rex Lynch 
 George Macfarlane 
 Barbara Matthews 
 Reverend Monsignor Gerard O’Connor 
 Reverend Kevin O’Grady 
 Brian Phillips  

Diocesan Education Council Rex Lynch, Chairman 
 Reverend John Fitzmaurice 
 Robin Kilworth 
 David Lamb 
 Reverend Monsignor Gerard O’Connor 
 

Diocesan Welfare Council Reverend Kevin O’Grady, Chairman 
 Brian Dilger 
 Carey Haines 
 Joan Doocey 
 Lynda Macdonald 
 Elizabeth Pennell 
 Sister Oliver Plunket LCM 
 Murray Winder 

Catholic Diocese 
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Managers 

 Diocesan Financial Administrator Paddy Beban 
 Catholic Education Office Mike Nolan 
 Diocesan Youth Team Mike Stopforth 
 Catholic Social Services Jon Brian 
 Finance  Janice Rennell 
 Funding Elizabeth Pennell 

Auditor  
Ernst & Young 

 Ernst & Young House 
 227 Cambridge Terrace 
 Christchurch 

Solicitors  
 Cavell Leitch Pringle & Boyle 

Level 15 
Clarendon Towers 
Cnr Oxford Terrace & Worcester Street 
Christchurch 

Investment Advisors  
 Goldman Sachs JB Were (NZ) Ltd 
 141 Cambridge Terrace 
 Christchurch 

Bankers  
 Westpac 

Level 4 
Canterbury Centre 
166 Cashel St 
Christchurch      

Engineers  
 Eliot Sinclair & Partners Ltd 
 Level 5 

Transport House 
151 Kilmore St 
Christchurch 
 
Opus International Consultants Ltd 
Level 3 
Te Waipounamu House 
158 Hereford Street 
Christchurch 

Location  
 Cathedral House 

 122 Barbadoes Street 
  Christchurch 

Executive Directory 
Catholic Diocese 

of Christchurch 
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About 1990 in widespread consultation among all sections of the people of the Catholic Diocese of 
Christchurch a survey indicated that there was a clear consensus about the pastoral priorities for 
this local church (i.e. diocese) 
 

 The first priority was discerned to be evangelisation. The root of this word 
is the Latin and Greek words for Gospel.  This is the good news announced 
by Jesus Christ, prepared for by the prophets etc in the Old Testament and 
fulfilled in the death and resurrection of Christ and celebrated to the Church 
he brought into being. Its task is to proclaim, explain and witness to this 
Gospel.  Throughout the Catholic world, formation, first in homes, in the 
education systems of our schools and colleges, and preaching and teaching 
for all in parishes are the ordinary means of evangelisation.  Special 
programmes of training are provided. 

 
 The second priority is marriage and the family. Sound families are 

cornerstones for stable societies.  School, home and parish strive to work 
collaboratively to produce good citizens of our nation, cities, towns and rural 
areas. 

 
 The third priority is Catholic Education, not just through our Catholic 

schools but pre-schools and adult formation programmes. 
 
 The fourth priority is youth, addressing their needs for the well-being of the 

young and the development of a more balanced society is a pressing 
imperative today and into the future. 

 
Reflecting the Church’s fundamental principle of subsidiarity, much of the work and focus on these 
priorities is at parish level and by religious orders, because they are so much closer to the people. 
However in a number of cases the Bishop has established, at diocesan level, agencies and trusts 
that can support and facilitate this work. Those agencies are: 
 

 The Diocesan Youth Team 
 The Catholic Education Office 
 Catholic Social Services 
 Diocesan Administration 
 The Funding Team 
 The Christchurch Catholic Diocesan Development Fund 
 The Diocesan Foundation 
 The Maryville Trust Board 

 
The latter three are separately constituted trusts with their own reporting requirements. Other than 
to allude to the structure, purpose and brief financial information about these trusts, it is not 
intended to provide detailed financial performance statements for these entities as part of this 
Annual Report.  

Catholic Diocese 

of Christchurch Pastoral Priorities 
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Diocesan Administration Team 

“… is to support the work of the Church 
by providing an efficient and reliable 
financial management system which 
serves as a foundation for effective 

decision making and planning.” 

Catholic Education Office 

“ … for the benefit of those involved in the 
educational mission of the Church in 

the Catholic Diocese of Christchurch is to: 
 Value biblically, 
 Listen intently, 
 Think wisely, 
 Challenge compassionately, 
 Act justly.” 

Our Mission 
Catholic Diocese 

of Christchurch 

Catholic Youth Team 

“… is to be a faith filled team, 
sharing Christ with young people and young adults, 

supporting them in their life journey, 
calling them to active and 
responsible participation 

within the life of the Church.” 

Catholic Social Services 

“… exists in the light of the Gospel, 
and the teachings of the Catholic Church 

to foster human dignity through the 
provision of services that enable 

families and individuals to 
develop their full potential.” 
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The Diocese has celebrated the Centennial of the Cathedral of the Blessed Sacrament this year. 

The Civic Trust’s Supreme Award was recently presented by the Board of the Christchurch Civic 
Trust Incorporated to the Cathedral of the Blessed Sacrament Charitable Trust for Refurbishment of 
the Cathedral. 

The award reads: “The Trust recognises the completion of 35 years of restoration and significant 
structural and liturgical changes to the Cathedral.  Restorative work and strengthening has been 
discreet and the new furnishings have embraced the architecture of the interior in a modern way”. 

This year’s involvement of the Management and Finance Board in this restoration work has been to 
coordinate the funding for the earthquake strengthening project.  The Christchurch City Council 
granted funds for the project over a five year period and to enable the strengthening work to be 
completed during the current year the Catholic Development Fund advanced the interim funding for 
the project. 

The Management and Finance Board meet monthly and receive reports from the Councils and 
Boards that report to the Bishop. 

The decisions and recommendations from this Board to the Bishop are made within the guidelines of 
Canon Law and the Diocesan Norms.  

The monthly meeting agenda includes : 

1. Advisory Committee Reports -  Diocesan Education Council 
  -  Diocesan Welfare Council 
  -  Diocesan Youth Team 
2. Diocesan Monthly Financial Report 
3. Diocesan Funding Report -  Catholic Development Fund 
  -  Parish Thanksgiving and Renewal Programmes 
4. Property and Investment Sub-Committee Reports 
5. Major Parish Project Approvals 
6. Diocesan Financial Administrator’s Report 

Financial Year Ended 30 June 2005 

The annual accounts record a surplus before capital expenditure of $3,558,000. Capital expenditure, 
loan transactions and transfers to special funds of $4,950,000 resulted in an overall deficit of 
$1,392,000.  The capital expenditure was as follows: 

Diocesan Schools 1,821,000 
Land & Buildings 1,159,000 
Property under Development 1,077,000 
Computer Equipment 54,000 
Vehicle 109,000 
Other Plant & Equipment 22,000 

 $4,242,000 

The major issue we have had to deal with during the year has been the dispute between the 
Christchurch City Council and Environment Canterbury over the Halswell subdivision’s final Council 
approval. 

Since balance date the matter has been resolved and all lots have been sold in our Bishops Green 
subdivision. 

Catholic Diocese 

of Christchurch Chairman’s Introduction 

10    Catholic Diocese of Christchurch  2005 Annual Report 



The Diocese is constantly increasing the spending range of activities undertaken.  This annual report 
details the spending required to support the increasing activities of the Diocese. 

We are dependent upon parish second collection returns, Catholic Development Fund surplus 
distribution, investment income, grants from government and trusts for our income. 

The Diocese is in a healthy financial position however we have the challenge of growing our capital 
to earn sufficient investment income to meet our expenditure. 

We are conscious of the need to invest in capital assets that will grow over time. We are currently 
benefiting from projects like the Bishops Green subdivision because land investments were made by 
the Church 100 years ago and it is our responsibility to reinvest this capital for future generations.  

Catholic Development Fund 

The annual surplus distribution the Diocese receives from the Catholic Development Fund (CDF) is 
a major source of income to the Diocese. 

This year the distribution to the Diocese was $550,000. 

The CDF also significantly assists the funding of Diocesan capital projects.  This year loans to 
parishes, schools and the Diocese totalled approximately $2,000,000. 

The CDF result achieved by George Macfarlane (Chairman) and his trustees was excellent. 

Diocesan Administration Staff 

The Board is very well served by the staff of the Diocesan Office. 

The Diocese is extremely fortunate in having Paddy Beban as Financial Administrator.  He has the 
background and experience to manage the very wide range of assignments that come to his desk.  
His knowledge of local body matters significantly helped us work through the Bishops Green 
subdivision issues. 

Our contact with the staff continues to be a pleasant experience and their work is always of a very 
high standard. 

New Board Members 

Stephen Boock and Greg Bevin have joined the Board during the year. 

We are very pleased to have them join us.  They both bring a background of successful business 
careers and significant involvement in Church activities, Charity and Community organisations.  

Conclusions 

The Board has functioned well because members have generously given their time and used their 
experience and skills for the benefit of the Diocese. 

This year has been a demanding year for the Property Subcommittee and Robin Corcoran and Brian 
Phillips have been invaluable with their respective legal and property investment backgrounds. 

I thank each member for their contribution to the progress of the Diocese.  
 
 
Geoff Bailey 
Chairman - Diocesan Management & Finance Board 

Chairman’s Introduction 
Catholic Diocese 

of Christchurch 
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PRIEST 
• Pastoral Initiatives 
• Priestly Formation 
• Cathedral 

PROPHET 
• Catholic Education 
• Youth & Young 

People 
• Justice & Peace 

SHEPHERD 
• Welfare 
• Governance 
• Bishops’ Conference 
• Tribunal 
• Thanksgiving 
• Communication 

MISSIONMISSION  

PP  
AA  
SS  
TT  
OO  
RR  
AA  
LL  

Supporting the 
Pastoral Mission OVERHEAD 

ACTIVITIES 
• Diocesan Financial 

Administrator 

• Financial Accounting 

• Administration 

• Cathedral House and other 
Administrative Buildings 

INCOME 
PRODUCING 
ACTIVITIES 

• Property Development 

• Treasury Activity 

• Insurance 

• Accounting Services 

• Other Income 

The triangle shape illustrates the three-fold mission of Our Lord Jesus Christ. He was, and is, priest, prophet and 
shepherd. His mission is entrusted to his Church until the end of the world. At the centre of the triangle is an 
ancient Catholic symbol, which has been used to represent Jesus Christ from before 312 AD. It comprises two 
letters from the Greek alphabet, chi = X and rho = P super-imposed on each other.  They are the first two 
letters of the Greek word for Christ, which translates the Hebrew word for the Messiah, God's anointed 
servant. The image, therefore, is a monogram and symbol for Christ, crucified and risen. 

SHEPHERD 

“To care for” 

MINISTRY OF CHARITY 

PRIEST 

“To sanctify” 

MINISTRY OF LITURGY 

PROPHET 

“To teach” 

MINISTRY OF THE WORD 

Catholic Diocese 

of Christchurch Financial Reporting 
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This section of the Bishop’s mission, brings focus on priestly formation, the development of our 
seminarians and pre seminarians, the professional development of our priests and providing for their 
retirement.  

Maintaining, preserving and enhancing the “Chief House of God” 7 in the Diocese, the Cathedral of 
the Blessed Sacrament; keeping it as “the place where God gathers the Catholic Church around 
its Bishop in the sacred action which surpasses all others” 8 is an essential part of this ministry. 

Cathedral of the Blessed Sacrament 
 

Located in Barbadoes Street, architect F.W. Petre’s magnificent concrete, Oamaru 
stone-clad building is regarded as one of the finest examples of church architecture 
in Australasia. It replaced the original chapel and church of the Blessed Sacrament 
that was opened in 1864. 

Today the Cathedral stands as an enduring witness to the Catholic faith and courage 
and generosity of the first Bishop of the Christchurch Diocese, the Most Reverend J. 
Grimes SM  and his people. 

The Cathedral is often referred to as “the Basilica” because its style is based on that of the old 
Roman basilicas whose secular origins and purpose were transformed by the early Church into 
places of Christian liturgy.  While faithful to the plan of the basilica, F.W. Petre was able to introduce 
many original architectural elements. 

The Dedication of the Cathedral took place on 12th  February, 1905. 

In this Centennial Year of the Cathedral, numerous observances over the course of the year have 
seen large numbers of  people involved in Centennial events. 
 a history of the Cathedral was commissioned and published for the occasion. Called “A 

Suitable Temple”, it was written by Michael Hanrahan, whose forebears were original 
contributors when the Cathedral was built. Its publication was funded by the Diocese. 
 specially made banners were introduced into the Cathedral for the Centennial Year.  

Purchased and made by parishioners, the liturgical colours with Eucharistic and Maori 
motifs capture something of the Cathedral’s identity. 
 one hundred years to the day, Bishop John Cunneen, assisted by many of his priests and 

a great gathering of Catholics, concelebrated the Mass for the anniversary of the 
Dedication at 11.00am on Saturday 12 February. 
 on the same day, at 2.00pm, a Liturgy of the Word to which the Heads of Churches and 

other dignitaries had been invited, was celebrated. During this, Bishop Cunneen dedicated 
the newly-installed Stations of the Cross. These had been carved from Cararra marble by 
Llewellyn Summers at the commission of the Cathedral Trust. While the introduction of 
these new Stations of the Cross led to some protests, the visitors’ book in the Cathedral 
shows that many people appreciate them. 
 one week later, on Sunday 20th February, a parish group from Holy Family Parish, 

Burwood came to the 9.00am Sunday Mass which was celebrated by its parish priest, 
Monsignor Gerard O’Connor. This was the first of many spiritual pilgrimages made over 
the course of the year by parish and ethnic groups from every part of the Diocese and 
meant for some their first ever visit to the Cathedral. 

The current level of diocesan administered direct expenditure amounted to approximately $66,380 
during this planning period. 

To Sanctify 
Ministry of 

Liturgy 
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Good Shepherd House9 

Located in Innes Road, this pre-seminary house was established by Bishop Basil Meeking 12 years 
ago, as a response to what the late Pope John Paul II called “a period of human, Christian, 
intellectual, and spiritual preparation for candidates for the major seminary.” It offers a one-
year course of spiritual formation and academic training to men before they go to the Holy Cross 
Seminary in Auckland to begin their training for the priesthood. 

The Bishop for the time being is the Rector of this formation house. Reverend Rick Loughnan is the 
live-in Vice-Rector. His role is that of day-to-day management and looking after the interests of 
those in residence. Reverend Monsignor Gerard O’Connor is the Spiritual Director and Reverend 
John Fitzmaurice is Dean of Studies. 

In the twelve years, three men have gone on to the National Seminary and been ordained. There are 
other students who attended Good Shepherd House who are currently studying at the National 
Seminary. Three students have been in residence for part of this reporting period. One has moved 
on to the National Seminary, one has moved to religious formation in Australia, while the other 
completes his year of formation. 

The cost of providing this pre-seminary facility and programme was $16,677 in the current year. 

Seminary 

Twelve years ago come October 21st Bishop John was with New Zealand Bishops in Rome meeting 
for the first time with Pope John Paul II. 
In his address to the New Zealand Bishops late Pope John Paul II said (besides encouraging 
developing collaboration with priests, religious and the laity) “It is above all the Bishop’s duty to 
give the closest attention to the training of priests in seminaries and houses of formation.  A 
bishop must be able to accompany his seminarians with personal interest and paternal 
affection, ensuring that they are given the spiritual, intellectual and human formation needed 
to make them men of communion, possessing mature faith and true apostolic zeal.” 
Bishop John has tried to heed his call.  Since 1993 our National Seminary at Mosgiel has moved 
(1999) to Auckland and separated into two institutes, both in Ponsonby: Holy Cross Seminary and 
Good Shepherd Theologate.  The Seminary provides the spiritual and human formation.  The 
Theologate gives to both Diocesan and Marist Seminarians the academic formation.  While students 
are in the Seminary, and on pastoral placement in their home diocese, pastoral training builds on the 
human and spiritual formation given in the seminary. 
Five seminarians at varying study levels were supported in residence for all or part of this financial 
year. Since balance date one has taken a decision to pursue other paths, make other choices. Such 
decisions are not easy as we pray and thank him for the time that he has given in discernment. 
Reverend Chris Orr was ordained in December 2004. 
In the course of this next year it is hoped that four will commence or continue with their studies. Your 
continued prayerful support for these young men is both valued and appreciated as is the financial 
support that is provided through our diocesan wide appeal. 
This financial year the Diocese paid some $90,000 for its seminarians’ costs both at the Seminary 
and the Theologate. The 2005 Seminary Appeal realised $14,541. 

Ministry of 

Charity To Sanctify 
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Vocations Director 



Statement of Cost of Services - For the Year Ending 30 June 2005 

2004 2005 2005 2006
Actual Budget Actual Budget

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
'000 '000 '000 '000

Operating Income
99 Grants and Donations 17 236 155

0 Investment Income 6 0 0
84 Other Income 233 165 116

183 Total 256 401 271

Less Expenditure
37 Personnel Costs 33 51 155
13 Consultancy 20 2 10

1 Depreciation 1 4 10
4 Interest on Loans 0 0 0

430 Other 532 483 543
485 Total 586 540 718

(302) Net Operating Deficit (330) (139) (447)
0 Non Operating Revenue 0 0 0

(302) Total Surplus recognised for period (330) (139) (447)

(60) Less Internal Charges (62) (63) (63)
(60) (62) (63) (63)

7 Net  Transfers (to)/from Special Funds 7 10 29

(355) Net Deficit (after internal transfers) (385) (192) (481)

138 Capital Expenditure (438) (537) (24)
Loan Principal Receipts 376 394
Loan Principal Repayments

(493) Net Deficit (447) (335) (505)
(after internal transfers and capital expenditure)

Net Cost by Activity
(65) Pastoral Initiatives 219 298 (396)

(184) Priestly Formation (251) (140) (188)
(106) Cathedral (353) (350) 103

(355) Total Net Cost (385) (192) (481)

To Sanctify 
Ministry of 

Liturgy 
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The attached notes form part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements 



The principal work of this ministry is Catholic Education and Youth, two of the pastoral priority areas 
established by the Bishop. 

The Diocesan Education Council 
FROM THE CHAIRMAN 

The Diocesan Education Council is charged by the Bishop with the task of overseeing education 
throughout the Diocese and advising him of matters that require attention. This work is done through 
the Catholic Education Office and the Council meets each month to consider a detailed report. 

We continue to work on the matter of supplying adequate chaplaincy services to our schools 
although no easy answer is likely to appear. 

It is pleasing to see the number of times our Catholic Character Support Team are asked to assist 
Boards and teachers in praying together as a group. The aim is to explore what prayer is, to highlight 
why we pray together, to provide practical ideas on how to pray using a variety of ways and to 
experience a prayerful time together as a group. This certainly enhances the Catholic character of 
the school. 

During the year Catholic Cathedral College took a first step to becoming a Diocesan School when 
control was handed over to the Bishop. We welcome this move and look forward to good things to 
come. Already plans are underway to build a gymnasium on the school grounds. 

The increase in the number of students at Catholic Schools throughout New Zealand for the year 
ended March 2005 was 1.54%. Christchurch Diocese has a 12% share of these students, 4,305 
primary and 3,341 secondary. Our primary student numbers rose by 3% during the year whilst the 
secondary numbers fell slightly by 1.5%. Three of our primary schools are looking at increasing the 
maximum number of students they can take. 

Staff 

The Education Council wishes to thank the staff at the Catholic Education Office for their efforts 
during the year. The team effort displayed when staff are unwell or away on courses is a credit to all 
concerned. 

There have been some changes during the year. Darryl Shute resigned and was replaced by 
Charles Shaw as our Secondary Curriculum Adviser. Latterly Charles has been writing updates for 
NCRS and before that was a teacher at Catholic Cathedral College. Sister Jill McLoughlin RSJ has 
joined the office to work in the role of Catholic Special Character Support Services. 

Our thanks to Mike Nolan (Manager), Sister Cora Grennan CHF, Sister Mary Wood RSM, Sister 
Mary Catherwood RSM, Sister Jill McLoughlin RSJ, Charles Shaw. 

Thanks also to the members of the Education Council David Lamb, Robin Kilworth, Father John 
Fitzmaurice, Monsignor Gerry O’Connor for their time and work during the year. Thanks also to 
Paddy Beban and Donna Malone for faithfully attending our meetings and providing useful and 
competent contributions. 
 
 
Rex Lynch 
Chairman 

Ministry of 

the Word To Teach 
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Our Vision is a future where 
our work ensures the 
Catholic Diocese of 

Christchurch is able to 
positively respond to the 
current challenges facing 
the educational mission of 

the Church, in order to 
always be in a position to: 

Let future generations learn, 
and … 

Teach their young to trust 
God  

(Psalm 78) 

Vision Purpose and Mission 

The existence of the Catholic Education Office reflects a commitment of the Bishop, and the whole 
Catholic community of the Catholic Diocese of Christchurch, to the education of the young, and “not 
so young”, within a faith environment, grounded in the vision of Christ. This education takes place in 
the parishes and in the schools of the Diocese.  

Our role, as administrators, is to minister to 
the ministers; our role is one of service. 

In responding to the direction and 
imperatives given to us above, we 
have developed, and are 
c o m m i t t e d  t o  f a i t h f u l l y 
responding to, and realising, the 
following vision, purpose and 
mission: 

Our Purpose is to best utilise 
our talents and skills to 

lead, serve and assist those 
involved in the educational 

mission of the Church in the 
Catholic Diocese of 

Christchurch in order to 
continue to let future 

generations learn, and 
enable them to grow up, to 
teach their young to trust 
God, to remember great 

deeds, and to cherish the 
law (Psalm 78) 

Our Mission, for the benefit 
of those involved 

in the educational mission 
of the Church 

in the Catholic Diocese of 
Christchurch, is to: 
Value biblically; 
Listen intently; 
Think wisely; 
Challenge 

compassionately; 
Act justly; 
Praise appropriately. 

Overview of legal, employment 
and financial matters 

The Catholic Education Office 

This agency is located in the old administrative wing of the former Xavier College (now Catholic 
Cathedral College). Mike Nolan manages the agency. 

Organisational Structure 
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Paddy Beban 
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Mike Nolan
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for Primary Schools 

Religious Education 
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Parish and Sacramental

Programmes

Advisor for 
Special Character 

Property 
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Ministry of 

the Word To Teach 



Statement of Service Performance 

The Catholic Education Office’s influence on educational outcomes within Catholic schools and 
parishes is somewhat indirect. We are not a provider of education to students in classrooms or 
parish Sacramental/Religious Education programmes. We are, in the main, a provider of leadership 
and training, support and development, for those who are actively engaged leading Catholic schools 
and parishes and educating students in classrooms and parish Sacramental/Religious Education 
programmes. 

Our role is based on three main areas of influence. We aim to provide: 

a) professional and personal development opportunities, 

b) resources, and 

c) pro-active leadership, guidance and support 
 
for those engaged in the educational mission of the Catholic Church in the Diocese of Christchurch. 

In all these endeavours the Catholic Education Office seeks, through its policies, budget, advice and 
relationships, to promote a holistic model of education for the schools and parishes it serves. I am 
pleased to highlight some of the progress we at the Catholic Education Office have made during 
2004/2005, in each of these areas of influence, by providing some examples of our endeavours in 
this regard:  

Professional and Personal Development Opportunities 

To provide regular Religious Education curriculum in-
service for primary and secondary Religious Education 
teachers that responds to and further develops their own 
professional Religious Education needs, as well as 
providing examples of strategies to use in the 
classroom. 

 The Primary and Secondary Advisors’ working model is based around: 

(a) in-class and in-school professional development and support; 
(b) DRS (Director of Religious Studies) cluster support. 

 The Primary Advisor has set up a core group of 5 DRS’s to look at the needs of DRS’s and 
schedule DRS meetings, one per term. Post DRS meetings are held with the core group to 
evaluate and action needs where possible. Six DRS cluster/support groups have been set up in 
the Christchurch city region. 

 The Secondary Advisor has set up a core group of 5 DRS’s to 
look at the needs of DRS’s and schedule DRS meetings, one per 
term. Post DRS meetings are held with the core group to 
evaluate and action needs where possible. The Secondary 
Advisor is now meeting with the Secondary DRS’s each term at 
the same time as the meeting of Primary DRS’s. 

Ministry of 

the Word To Teach 
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Provide a series of workshops for new teachers and 
those teachers who are new to Catholic schools. 

 The Primary Advisor along with the Secondary 
Adviser and the Catholic Character Teacher/Board 
Support Services Contract Advisor organised two 
workshops for new teachers and those teachers 
who are new to Catholic schools in 2005. 

Resources 

Effectively communicate with the Ministry of Education in Christchurch, in order to achieve quality 
educational outcomes in the property area. 

 The Manager of the Catholic Education Office regularly meets with Ministry of Education 
officials, in particular the Manager Network Provision – Southern Region. The focus of such 
meetings in 2005 revolved around the process and methodology for updating the property 
data records, for the diocesan schools, on the Ministry of Education’s database. 

Review and refine the project management contract methodology for initiating, developing and 
completing capital works in Catholic schools. 

Actively participate in the development of a culture by which human and intellectual resources 
(e.g. guest speakers) are shared nationally by proprietors and school networks. 

 The consultation procedure for developing the next Five-Year Property Programme (1 July 
2005 to 30 June 2010) has been completed and the programme has been approved and 
adopted. 

 The Catholic Education Office organised the visit of Dr Finola Cunnane SSL to New Zealand. 
The Dioceses of Dunedin and Wellington also used Finola as a workshop presenter. 

To Teach 
Ministry of 

the Word 

Leadership, Guidance and Support 

Assist the Board of Trustees of John Paul II High School and St Patrick’s School (Greymouth) as 
the Bishop explores the possibility of relocating to the vacated Grey Junior High School site. 

 The long and detailed exploratory phase has been completed and Bishop John has decided 
that John Paul II High School and St Patrick’s School (Greymouth) will remain on their current 
sites. 
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 Regular meetings; email, phone, fax and mail contacts are conducted with these groups and 
individuals within these groups.  

 For example: 

(a) the Catholic Education Office provided advice and comment to 
Bishop John and the Council of Priests during the process of the 
revision, of the Preference of Enrolment criteria by the NZ Catholic 
Bishops’ Conference; and 

(b) the Catholic Education Office responded to “An Education with a 
Special Character” public discussion paper on the consolidation of 
the Private Schools Conditional Integration Act into the Education 
Act; 

(c) the Manager of the Catholic Education Office is a member of the NZ 
Catholic Bishops’ Conference Catholic Tertiary Education Advisory 
Group (CTEAG) whose primary purpose is to provide advice to the 
NZCBC relating to the enhancement and greater coordination of 
Catholic tertiary education in New Zealand. 

 
 
 
Mike Nolan 
Manager - Catholic Education Office  

Ministry of 

the Word To Teach 

Assist the members of our Catholic schools Boards of Trustees 
in spiritual growth and formation in prayer, reflection on 
scripture and discernment of God’s will, for each board meeting. 

 Through the service provided by the Catholic Special Character Teacher/Board Support 
Services contract, the Catholic Education Office has systematically been working with Boards 
of Trustees in delivering a workshop entitled, “Praying as a Board”. 

Develop, encourage and support positive linkages between the Catholic Education Office and 
NZCEO Ltd, NZCPCIS, NZCPPA, NAPCSS, diocesan organisations, the Council of Priests, 
parishes, parish and Catholic primary & secondary schools, the Ministry of Education, ERO, 
NZEI, PPTA, NZSTA, the College of Education and other educational agencies.  
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To Teach 
Ministry of 

the Word 

Catholic Youth Team 

It will do that by: 

1. Providing the Vision and overview of Catholic Youth and Young Adult Ministry in the Diocese. 
2. Supporting parishes so they can become youth and young adult friendly and have the 

opportunity to develop and maintain ministry to youth and young adults. 
3. Coordinating and facilitating diocesan based events and programmes for youth and young 

adults. 
4. Supporting Directors of Religious Studies, Chaplains and Campus Ministers in our Catholic 

schools. 

“Our Mission is to be a faith filled team, sharing 
Christ with young people and young adults, 

supporting them in their life journey, 
calling them to active and responsible participation 

within the life of the church.” 

What follows presents the Performance Objectives and a summary of how we achieved those this 
year. 

The Mission of the Catholic Youth Team is: 

This agency is located next to the old administrative wing of the former Xavier College (now Catholic 
Cathedral College). Mike Stopforth manages the agency. 

The Bishop continues to be committed to the pastoral priority of “youth” and makes a significant 
commitment to young people and young adults through the Diocesan Youth Team.  The Youth 
Team’s role is to (primarily) assist parishes to minister to young people so that our young people can 
be assisted to grow in faith and be supported in their life journey. 

Organisational Structure 

The team comprises four full time staff; Mike Stopforth (Director), Matt O’Connell (Young Adults 
Worker), Clare Dooley (Events Coordinator), and Vicki Holland (Parish Field Worker until May 2005). 

Overview of legal, employment 
and financial matters 

Spiritual Development Support 
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Objectives and Performance Measures 

Ministry of 

the Word To Teach 

1. Providing the Vision and overview of Catholic Youth and Young Adult Ministry in the Diocese. 

 Connecting and forming partnerships with those who minister to or impact youth and young 
adults in the Diocese with the intention of being a hub of information, advice and coordination. 

This was achieved by: 

 Distribution of the Youth Team promotion material such as the bimonthly Update, Snippet 
newsletters and the regular email newsletter ‘eUpdate’  

 Holding an “Excellence Night” to share the Vision of the Youth Team with others. 

 Coordinating a regular network breakfast meeting for youth leaders to bring together those 
who are involved in parish or school youth ministry.  

 Development for the Team through monthly meetings with our chaplain and regular retreats. 

2. Supporting parishes so they can become youth and young adult friendly and have the 
opportunity to develop and maintain ministry to youth and young adults.  

 Being proactive in providing resources and encouragement to Parish Priests and Parish 
Councils; in order to raise the profile of Youth and Young Adult ministry and assisting them in 
becoming youth and young adult friendly. 

This was achieved by: 

 Providing support for parish youth and young adult leaders’ - 
leadership development, one on one meetings, resources, 
training and formation opportunities for their ministry. 

 A parish consultation was completed which provides a long 
term plan for a parish. 

"The Catholic Youth Team has 
been very effective in their 
support and encouragement of 
parish based youth ministry. 
This year  they have 
met Angela and I and helped 
implement systems and 
processes to ensure our parish 
continues to encourage and 
support young people on their 
faith journey"  "The CYT have 
provided us with many 
resources and events to 
supplement our programme at 
St Paul’s. I especially find that 
the camps they run are 
fantastic for our young people 
as they provide them with an 
opportunity to meet others from 
around the diocese that share 
the same faith." 

(Jason – Dallington Parish Youth Leader)  

"We were impressed about the amount of time and effort that was put 
into the parish - i.e. meeting with the core group and interviewing 
parishioners. This gave us a really clear understanding of what the 
parishioners really wanted and the report helped to guide us on our 
way to hopefully making it a reality in the near future." 

(Judith O’Sullivan – Pastoral Assistant, Riccarton Parish ) 
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 The Youth Team’s 
Music Ministry Team 
provided music for six 

parishes to support 
their parish liturgy. 



To Teach 
Ministry of 

the Word 

3. Coordination and facilitation of Diocesan based events 
and programmes for youth and young adults.  

 Providing (Diocesan based) programmes that give an 
opportunity to experience and/or develop Community 
Building, Justice and Service, Prayer and Worship, 
Evangelisation and Catechesis (components for Catholic 
Youth Ministry) in the context of the wider Church. 

This was achieved by: 

 Four Diocesan Youth Masses were held in the Cathedral with consistently great numbers 
and a bulging Cathedral! 

 Our annual Sportsnight was held for 200 young people at Pioneer Stadium. 

 Our camp programmes included; the ‘JAM’ (Jesus and Me) Camp for those young people in 
Years 7 to 10; the Revolution Camp for Years 9 and 10; and our annual Antioch Weekend 
held at Living Springs for those in Years 11 to 13. 

 Young Adult Retreats were held 
for those under the age of 25 and 
another for those aged 25 and 
over. Women’s and Men’s 
Retreats were also held during 
the year. 

 The Young Adult Formation 
programme carried on for its 
second year, seeking to provide 
faith formation for young adults 
through  a series of short blocks 
of talks by various speakers. 

 A Youth Leadership Development Programme called ‘Ignite’ was delivered for those young 
people in Years 12 and 13. 
“The Ignite Programme was awesome to get to know the people and to learn new skills about how to be a good 
leader. I most enjoyed the session about building relationships in order to be a good leader. I thought this was 
important because it helps to have a relationship with people so they are able to respect you and what you 
say.”  (Michael age 17)  

 Opportunities for young adults were provided for weekly Adoration of the Blessed Sacrament. 

 A number of social activities were organised to build community among our young adults 
including Friday night gatherings and sports events. 

 A significant amount of work went into coordinating a 
group of 12 young adults to attend World Youth Day in 
Germany in July 2005. 
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“I found the sessions on Theology of 
the Body presented by Father 
O’Connor to be very informative and 
interesting.  I’m always keen to learn 
more about my faith and the way the 
sessions were run over a couple of 
nights meant it was easy to make 
the time to attend the sessions and 
gain some valuable knowledge.  I’ll be 
keeping a look out for sessions like it 
in the future!”  (Maria) 



Ministry of 

the Word To Teach 
4. Supporting Directors of Religious Studies, Chaplains and Campus Ministers in our Catholic 

Schools. 

 Offering DRS’s, chaplains, and campus ministers support 
that will provide their students with an opportunity to 
experience and/or develop Prayer and Worship, 
Evangelisation, Catechesis, Leadership Development. 

This was achieved by: 

 Coordinating and presenting the Year 11 retreat 
programme for all seven of our secondary schools.  
This retreat is provided for 500 young people by 
employing University students to assist us in facilitating 
the retreats. 

 Music ministry is provided for some schools for Masses. 

 Some input is provided in other secondary school 
retreats. 

 Year 8 School Retreats were also provided for ten 
primary schools. 

“The students really enjoyed 
the variety of activities that 
the Youth Team provided. 
They were great leaders and 
the programme appealed to the 
students, holding their 
interest all day” 

(Marian College 
Staff member) 

In addition to our four objectives there was involvement in other areas such as: 

 Involvement in developing the Diocesan Pastoral Plan. 
 Diocesan web site maintenance and development. 
 Vocations Ministry and the National Catholic Vocations Symposium. 
 Involvement in the Cathedral Centenary. 

Catholic Tertiary Chaplaincy 

This agency is located at Kolbe House in Rountree Street (across the road from the University of 
Canterbury).  Vincent Chia coordinates the Team.  The Team comprises of; Vincent Chia 
(Coordinator), Sam Flores and Kerren Flannigan (Tertiary Team Workers) with Fr Michael Doyle as 
Priest Chaplain. 

In 2004 the Society of Mary gave notice that they would be retreating from the Catholic Tertiary 
Chaplaincy in Christchurch.  As a result in 2005 a new approach to Tertiary Ministry began. 

The Vision 

 To encourage the practice and growth of the Catholic faith among Catholic tertiary students.  

 To provide a gentle, persistent, growing, Catholic presence on campuses and, with God’s grace, 
to help others to come to faith, or return to faith. 

 To build a sense of community among Catholics on campus. 

 To build a ministry that is robust enough to grow with but not be determined by the availability of a 
priest. 
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2. The Model 

The model is a Tertiary Team of lay people and priest chaplain.   

 The Team will work alongside the Diocesan Youth and Young Adults Team and will be 
accountable to the Youth Team Director.  The Tertiary Team includes two or more members and 
a priest chaplain who would work with the Team to provide the sacramental and other related 
ministry. 

 They will be a Tertiary Ministry Team charged with their own responsibility for Tertiary 
Chaplaincy. They will meet with the Youth Team for support and where necessary wider planning. 

 Catholic Tertiary Chaplaincy includes the following 
institutions: 

− Canterbury University 
− Lincoln University 
− Christchurch College of Education 
− Christchurch Polytech 

Note at present we see that the Catholic Youth Team 
would provide Tertiary Chaplaincy to the Christchurch 
Polytechnic with the Tertiary Chaplain. 

 The Tertiary Team will be ultimately responsible to the 
Bishop and supportive of his pastoral priorities. 

To Teach 
Ministry of 

the Word 

The Catholic Tertiary Chaplaincy strives to build a 
Catholic Community in the Campus that is centred on the Eucharist. 

The Community is to be spirit-filled 
and constantly nourished by the Word of God 
so that it will become an evangelistic, serving, 

loving and welcoming Community. 
We are to be a “Eucharistic Community”. 

Mike Stopforth 
Director - Catholic Youth Team 
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Having Sam and Kerren working on campus is a great asset to 
Lincoln University. The students here are continually being 
encouraged and inspired by them. Their work to date has resulted in 
the Catholic community on campus becoming united, friendly and 
enthusiastic. Those of us here have also benefited by having a number 
of Catholic events and opportunities offered to us, with the highlight 
being the opportunity for students and staff to attend weekly Mass 
on campus. 

Lincoln University 

3. The Mission 

What struck me most was 

Fr John's explanation of prayer - 

"prayer isn't something we do, 

it's something God does; 

all we can do is yearn for it." 

University of Canterbury, 

feedback after Theology of the Body retreat 



Statement of Cost of Services - For the Year Ending 30 June 2005 

2004 2005 2005 2006
Actual Budget Actual Budget

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
'000 '000 '000 '000

Operating Income
22 Grants and Donations 18 49 34

1,724 Government Grants 1,784 1,855 2,016
0 Investment Income 66 0 0

909 Other Income 777 856 778
2,655 Total 2,645 2,760 2,828

Less Expenditure
466 Personnel Costs 521 479 619

37 Consultancy 62 56 63
402 Depreciation 435 390 355
127 School Maintenance 0 82 100
235 Interest on Loans 216 210 216
354 Other 318 308 301

1,621 Total 1,552 1,525 1,654

1,034 Total Surplus recognised for period 1,093 1,235 1,174

336 Internal Recoveries 351 351 382
(383) Less Internal Charges (375) (379) (423)

(47) (24) (28) (41)

143 Net  Transfers (to)/from Special Funds (135) 72 55

1,130 Net Surplus (after internal transfers) 934 1,279 1,188

(2,032) Capital Expenditure - Diocesan Schools (2,307) (1,821) (1,548)
(45) Capital Expenditure - Other (26) (91) (19)

(2,077) Total Capital Expenditure (2,333) (1,912) (1,567)
0 Loan Principal Receipts 0 140 0
0 Loan Principal Repayments 0 0 0

(947) Net Surplus (1,399) (493) (379)
(after internal transfers and capital expenditure)

Net Cost by Activity
57 Catholic Eduction Office 39 128 20

(13) Attendance Dues (5) 0 1
1,249 Diocesan Schools 1,133 1,332 1,438
(156) Youth and Young People (214) (177) (234)

(7) Tertiary Chaplaincy (19) (4) (37)
0 CCJP 0 0 0

1,130 Total Net Cost 934 1,279 1,188

Ministry of 

the Word To Teach 
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The principal work of this ministry is one of care, looking after people, concern about their well-being, 
involving people, governing and communication. Some of this work is carried out at national level by 
agencies established under the umbrella of all the Catholic Bishops of Aotearoa New Zealand (the 
Bishops’ Conference). Caritas is an example of such an agency. Much of the work at diocesan 
level is undertaken under the auspices of the Diocesan Welfare Council, appointed by the Bishop, as 
an advisory body to the Bishop for questions of relief of human need, as the governing body of the 
Bishop’s Catholic Social Services Agency and as a facilitator, advisor, trainer and supporter to 
encourage Catholics at parish level in their responsibility for the relief of human need.  

The Diocesan Welfare Council 
FROM THE CHAIRMAN 

 
The Council meets regularly each month to examine the task entrusted to it by the Bishop to look 
into matters pertaining to welfare in our Diocese. It is to be seen as an advisory group to the Bishop 
and the Diocesan Management and Finance Board. 

Its members are Joan Doocey, Carey Haines, Brian Dilger, Murray Winder, Liz Pennell, Sister Oliver 
Plunkett LCM, Linda Macdonald, Father Kevin O’Grady (Chairman), Paddy Beban (ex officio) and 
Donna Malone who is our secretary. 

The Council also functions as the Board of Catholic Social Services (CSS). The Agency is 
functioning very well. It has five social workers who operate well and provide a very professional 
service. They all have full books and are kept busy. There are a number of courses that have proved 
to be very popular. A recent audit of the Agency expressed very high praise and Child Youth and 
Family Services have sent some of its new people to the Agency to see how things are done there, 
as an example of how things should be done. 

The Agency also has a budgeting division which is very successful, all those working in this area 
have undertaken special training to fit them for this part of the work of the Agency. There are many 
demands made of these workers because of the dilemmas people find themselves in with regard to 
their finances. The turnaround that is achieved is wonderful to see. The Agency also has a food-
bank. It would respond to about 45 calls each month that would involve about 50 adults and 60 
children. It is the only food-bank in the city that is open five days a week. To keep it operational the 
Agency welcomes gifts of food. Two or three city parishes are very good at collecting provisions 
which are then passed on to the Agency. We are very grateful for all of our benefactors – but we 
need more. The food-bank is organised by volunteers who freely give of their time. We are grateful 
to them too. 

The manager of the Agency is Jon Brian and the receptionist is Mary Riley. They have the task of 
keeping the Agency running smoothly and they do this very well. In essence it is a very busy Agency 
and it is a really effective public arm of the diocesan attempt to bring care to those in need. To help 
in this work and to help keep the Agency operating at a high level we always welcome donations of 
whatever size. 

As I write this the Agency is changing its location from Montreal Street to 336 Cashel Street. The 
Agency people have moved to these new premises where they will be better able to function and so 
present an even bigger welcome to those who come to and through the door. It (the Agency) 
maintains an open door policy i.e. no one is charged. We are able to do this only because of the 
generosity of those who give to CSS. On 22 September Bishop John Cunneen and Father Kevin 
O’Grady attended a morning tea at CSS to express a closure to the activities at Montreal Street. It 
has been the home of CSS for almost 50 years and we feel a great expression of gratitude for all 
those who have given such great service there in that time. 

To Care For 
Ministry of 

Charity 
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Catholic Social Services 
 
This agency is located in Matthew Brodie House at 336 Cashel Street, Christchurch. The role of the 
Agency is to express the Church’s care for human life and values to the community, and its concern 
for the suffering many in our community have to constantly endure due to hardship, sickness or 
injustice. This is achieved through offering no cost professional services to anyone who needs 
support, in a caring and meaningful way. Its focus is principally on: 

• Positive Parenting 

• Children and Youth 

• Adults 

• Support for couples and families from a strength based perspective, 
empowering clients to develop their full potential 

Our highlights over the past year have been the development of very successful new group courses 
to meet the needs of our client group. (Psychodrama groups for women and the Healing Peer 
Support Group for people with mental health issues). A group course for adolescents is also being 
launched very soon. Our services are constantly adapting to changing needs in our community. 

However, the most significant event was the purchase of the new building. Now we indeed will have 
ideal conditions to offer all those who need our services and support, client friendly, functional 
premises to help ensure best quality of service and effective therapy. 

The Council also decides the recipients of Tindall Foundation money that comes to the Diocese for 
distribution.  This year members of the Council went out to meet people from organisations that put 
forward applications.  This proved to be a good move as it allowed us to get a better understanding 
of the nature of the applications and the people behind it. 

Also during this year we have taken the Council out to different organisations in the diocese so that 
we can get to know them better.  Next year it hopes to organise a celebration including all the groups 
in the Diocese meeting the different needs as they appear.  In this way we hope to learn of new 
areas of need where we can be involved.  If you know of any please contact us. 
 
With every best wish. 
 
 
Father Kevin O’Grady 
Chairman - Diocesan Welfare Council 

Ministry of 

Charity To Care For 
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“Catholic Social Services exists 
in the light of the Gospel and the 
teachings of the Catholic Church 
to foster human dignity through 

the provision of services that 
enable families and individuals to 

develop their full potential” 



To Care For 
Ministry of 

Charity 
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Paddy Beban 
Diocesan Financial Administrator 

Jon Brian
Manager

Receptionist Cleaner

Supervising 
Social Worker 

Volunteers
Food Bank (7) 

Volunteers
Budget Advisors / Advocates (3) 

Counsellors / Social Workers 
(5) 

Organisational Structure 

Overview of legal, employment 
and financial matters 

Clinical Responsibility 

 79 Budgeting/advocacy client files were active 
during the year, involving approximately 395 
volunteer hours. 
 The food bank received 431 calls for help, 

involving 519 adults and 539 children. 
 65 families were helped with Christmas parcels, 

another 40 with toys, and 18 families enjoyed the 
Spencer Park holiday programme. 

Objectives and Performance Measures 

1. To look at various forms of immediate relief of poverty, unemployment, distress and 
human need either alone or in collaboration with other Agencies and Organisations. 

“...I find the place is so 
helpful during the 
family’s crisis. It is 
wonderful to have 
something like this…” 

 
- Client Name withheld for 

confidentiality reasons 

“I use the service a lot as I have many patients from a low socio economic area with mental 
health problems who cannot afford private counselling. There is only a short wait to be seen 
and my patients have found the service accessible, professional and useful. I find the staff 
easy to contact and pleasant to deal with. I would highly recommend the service.” 

- Health Care provider 

Volunteers give their time 
very freely. 

We are extremely grateful 
to them. 



Counselling 

• 403 new client files were opened during the year.  

• 29 group courses were conducted throughout the 
year, 16 in schools. 

Ministry of 

Charity To Care For 
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Jon Brian 
Manager - Catholic Social Services 

“…I wanted to thank you for our short but very worthwhile sessions. I still am amazed at our first session with my 
son and it really hit home with me about “COMMUNICATION” since then my son has been a great seven year old 
boy! We try and talk about “stuff” when we can and dinnertimes are a great time for all of us to talk and hear each 
other. We will no long be using your service, but I just wanted to let you know that you have made a very significant 
impact on my life and in turn my family as a whole. I want to thank you for that and sincerely wish you all the 
very best. Thank you!”   - Client Name withheld for confidentiality reasons 

“...My counsellor helped me through a very difficult time and major depression in a sensitive and caring way. I am 
very grateful for the help and support given…”  - Client Name withheld for confidentiality reasons 

2. To develop and carry out programmes of family assistance, providing counselling and 
guidance to assist families and individuals 
by developing and providing counselling 
and therapy. 

• Client face-to-face hours totalled 2,616. 

• 26 crisis interventions. 

• Children counselling continued to develop and the 
demand is growing. The complexity of issues, as well 
as a continued increase in mental health problems, has 
been a constant challenge for all team members over 
the past year. The well functioning of the family unit 
and especially the safety and wellness, prevention of 
abuse and neglect of children are the main focus of this 
agency and its staff. 

“…As a ‘Field Worker in Schools’, I am often referred to children who lack self esteem and who have a real difficulty 
with social, communication and anger management skills. I also work with the parents of these children, who 
likewise, often lack these skills. 

Over a number of years, I have made many referrals, for both children and adults, to your agency. This has been to 
one of the many “Group Programmes’ you run and also for individual and family counselling or social work 
assistance. 

I have found your agency’s staff and practice to be of a high standard, resulting in the achieving of very good 
outcomes. I often receive favourable comments from my families and notice a positive change in their attitudes and 
behaviours. 

It is very pleasing to note that your agency has a short waiting list and is truly ‘free’ of cost. This is somewhat of a 
rarity in this day and age and as many of our ‘at risk’ families lack financial resources, it is so essential to enable 
access to a range of quality services...”  - Field Worker in Schools 

“…I am extremely grateful for, and happy 
with, the counselling I received from your 
organisation. It made a profound change to 
my life...” 

- Client Name withheld for confidentiality reasons 

“… I found my counsellor to be great. She 
was empathic and friendly. The goal-
setting scheme works well as having 
concrete goals avoided ‘drifting’. I found it 
m o r e  h e l p f u l  t h a n  p r e v i o u s 
counselling/therapy. Thank you very 
much - you do a great job…” 

- Client Name withheld for confidentiality reasons 



Chaplaincies 

The Prison Chaplaincy Service of Aotearoa New Zealand Trust Board is contracted to the 
Department of Corrections to provide chaplaincy services in our prisons. The Trust Board has 
entered into an agreement with the New Zealand Catholic Bishops’ Conference to provide at a 
minimum 5.4 full-time suitably qualified Catholic chaplains at all the Department’s sites. That 
agreement expired on 30th June 2005 and at the time of writing this report the Bishops’ have a new 
draft agreement in front of them for consideration. That agreement has an undertaking from the 
Bishops to provide a minimum equivalent of six full-time chaplains. 
 
The Bishop in each diocese employs chaplains 
according to the needs of the diocese and is 
funded out of the national agreement according 
to a formula based on the number of inmates, the 
geographical distribution of prison sites and the 
number of chaplains appointed by the Bishop. 
 
The Christchurch Diocese employees three part-
time chaplains at Paparoa (Christchurch Men’s 
Prison), Rolleston and Christchurch Women’s 
Prison. This is below the complement that is 
ordinarily employed: a part-time vacancy exists 
within the remand and youth areas at Paparoa. 
When that is filled our presence will return to 
2.28 full-time equivalents. 
 
The Diocese received a distribution of $52,258 in the year just ended as part of the contract. The 
service cost $101,546. 
 
 
Hospital Chaplaincy is largely undertaken at parish level. The Diocese has a role in administering, 
under the direction of Father Kevin O’Grady, chaplaincy services at Christchurch Public Hospital, 
Princess Margaret Hospital, Hillmorton Hospital and Nazareth House. He is assisted by Mrs Jenny 
Rooney and Sister Irene Jones RSM. 
 
Father Kevin O’Grady and Ms Elizabeth Pennell represent the New Zealand Catholic Bishops’ 
Conference on the Interchurch Council for Hospital Chaplaincy Aotearoa, New Zealand. Father 
O’Grady is currently chairman of the council. 

 

To Care For 
Ministry of 

Charity 
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New Zealand Catholic Bishops’ Conference 

The New Zealand Catholic Bishops’ Conference (NZCBC) was set up to enable the six dioceses of 
the Catholic Church in New Zealand to act nationally, in a collaborative way in areas of common 
activity, in an effective and efficient manner. The Conference has an executive office sited in 
Wellington to co-ordinate its various activities.  

To provide overall administration of NZCBC the ten bishops of New Zealand meet twice annually. 
The agenda for these meetings is very comprehensive, and is generally dealt with over a period of 
several very full days. 

The executive office administers a number of agencies which carry out the policies and directives of 
NZCBC. These agencies are: 

 Catholic Communications  
Handles media matters. 

 Caritas Aotearoa NZ  
Fundraises for overseas aid. 

 National Centre for Religious Studies 
Publishers of religious texts. 

 Nathaniel Bioethics Centre 
Researches and teaches on bioethical issues. 

 Mahitahi People working together 
Contracts people to aid Pacific Islands development. 

 Catholic Enquiry Centre 
Encourages people interested in Catholicism. 

 Te Runanga 
Outreach to the Maori people. 

 National Council for Young Catholics 
Organises youth affairs. 

 Liturgy Commission 
Deals with texts and rites of the Sacraments. 

 Ecumenism Commission 
Involved in dialogue with other churches. 

 Canon Law Commission 
Source of interpretation of Canon Law. 

 Mission Commission 
Concerned with evangelisation beyond New Zealand. 

 National Tribunal 
Church court applying Canon Law. 

 
Some of these activities are self funding either from income generated from services or their own 
fundraising programmes authorised by NZCBC. Others are funded by a conference levy. 

The conference levy is based on Catholic diocesan population figures established from each census. 
The Christchurch Diocese share of the levy is 13.6%. This amounted to $92,631 during this reporting 
period. 

Ministry of 

Charity To Care For 
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Phillip Gourdie, our Thanksgiving Renewal Programme Director, has 
been in this key position since June 1998. Phil delivers between five and 
seven full programmes, and some review programmes, each year. 

10 Source annual declared parish collection returns  

The focus of the programme is to encourage people to say “Thank You” to God. This is achieved 
through using our God given gifts of “Time, Talent and Treasure” for the benefit of everyone in our 
parish community. 
 
Phil has presented forty-one programmes in our Diocese over the last seven years. This has 
been spread through thirty-one different parishes with some having received the programme for a 
second time. 
 
In this reporting period he has completed 
programmes at the following parishes: 
 

 Our Lady of Fatima - Mairehau 

 Our Lady of Victories - Sockburn 

 Rangiora Catholic Parish 
- Rangiora and Oxford 

 Saint John the Evangelist - Leeston 

 Holy Name - Ashburton 
 
 

The success of the programme in financial terms has been outstanding, as has the flow on 
benefit of participation and activity in parish life. It is clear from the graphs illustrated below that 
those parishes that participate in the programme achieve better results than those that do not.  

To Care For 
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Fig 1 

Total Parish Collection Figures  
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Currently just over half our parishes participate in the programme. 
 
Over the last seven years in excess of $3.4m additional dollars have been generated from within 
parishes to assist in carrying out the pastoral mission within our Diocese. 
 
This has had the following effects: 
 
 The Bishop has been able to better support the Clergy of the Diocese. 

 Priests have been better supported to run their parishes. 
 

Aside from the financial results, the real benefits of the programme 
revolve around the vibrancy it generates within the parish and 

greater enhancement of the individuals faith through 
participation and involvement. More people continue to put 

their names forward for the wide variety of ministries 
within parishes to assist the parish priest in carrying out 

the pastoral and sacramental work of the parish. 
Parish rolls and systems have been enhanced and 
brought up to date as a by-product of the 
programme. 
 
The Diocese provides some subsidy on the costs 
of delivering the programmes whilst the parish 
meets the direct costs of promotion, printing and 
stationery. 
 
The cost of delivering parish programmes this 
reporting period was $88,638. Recoveries from 
parishes over that period amounted to $23,662.  

Ministry of 

Charity To Care For 

Where the parishioner’s donated dollar goes 

  THANKSGIVING   
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Inform 

INFORM, is a quarterly newsletter of the Catholic Bishop of 
Christchurch. Sister Margaret D’Ath RSCJ was the first editor followed 
by Father Chris Friel for the last six years until March 2005. On his 
retirement the Bishop appointed Father Mike Doyle to this position. 
The paper gathers together news from around the Diocese as well as 
a leading article from the Bishop. Dame Betty O’Dowd has regularly 
contributed a theological column at the invitation of the Bishop. 

Some 5,300 copies are distributed throughout the diocese, mostly 
through parishes. 

The net cost of this publication during the financial year was $8,846. 

Armstrong Village 

The provisions in the late Miss ZM Armstrong’s will, dated 2nd November 1982, established a 
charitable trust “The ZM Armstrong Charitable Trust”. The Bishop is the beneficiary of the Trust for 
his work among the aged in the “province of Canterbury”. 

Up until 1995 very little distributions had been requested by the Bishops for the time being and some 
$265,000 had accumulated. In 1999 six single units out of a planned 22 were constructed in Milton 
Street, Christchurch, adjacent to Nazareth House, providing low cost housing accommodation to the 
aged in need. Subsequent annual distributions from the Trust have been accumulated in anticipation 
of a further building programme. 

The Bishop has entered into a formal arrangement with the Society of Mary Trust Board which 
provides for the Board to construct two and a half units for the accommodation of retired members of 
the Order. This arrangement involves the Board financially sharing the annual outgoings of the 
property and making some contribution towards the capital invested in infrastructure previously 
installed to service the planned 22 unit development. 

The units were completed and occupied over Easter 2004. When they are no longer required by the 
Order the agreement provides for the units, which have been constructed in a form that will be 
convertible to five single flats, to revert to the Bishop and be available for other purposes consistent 
with the intent of Miss ZM Armstrong. 

Further units and possibly the completion of the plan will be considered as soon as some 
satisfactory funding arrangements are concluded with the executors of the Trust. 

The current cost of operating the village amounted to $67,455 during the reporting period.  

Statement of Service Performance Catholic Diocese of Christchurch  2005 Annual Report    35 

Father Mike Doyle, Sister Margaret D’Ath RSCJ, 
and Father Chris Friel 



Statement of Cost of Services - For the Year Ending 30 June 2005 

2004 2005 2005 2006
Actual Budget Actual Budget

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
'000 '000 '000 '000

Operating Income
351 Grants and Donations 357 469 341
101 Government Grants 62 89 71

0 Investment Income 27 0 0
237 Other Income 280 286 690
689 Total 726 844 1,102

Less Expenditure
484 Personnel Costs 532 518 587

0 Consultancy 5 6 9
16 Depreciation 15 16 10

320 Other 341 325 352
820 Total 893 865 958

(131) Net Operating Deficit (167) (21) 144
0 Non Operating Revenue 0 0 0

(131) Total Surplus recognised for period (167) (21) 144

57 Internal Recoveries 11 117 11
(259) Less Internal Charges (213) (347) (232)
(202) (202) (230) (221)

34 Net  Transfers (to)/from Special Funds 142 (69) 230

(299) Net Deficit (after internal transfers) (227) (320) 153

(19) Capital Expenditure (439) (682) (1,503)
0 Loan Principal Receipts 180 197
0 Loan Principal Repayments

(318) Net Deficit (486) (1,002) (1,153)
(after internal transfers and capital expenditure)

Net Cost by Activity
50 Welfare - Catholic Social Services (2) 88 (22)
17 Welfare - Other 133 (41) 145

(173) Governance (176) (190) 206
(108) Bishop's Conference (89) (94) (101)

11 Catholic Shop 3 6 14
(16) Tribunal (24) (15) (15)
(71) Thanks Giving (63) (65) (64)

(9) Inform (9) (9) (10)

(299) Total Net Cost (227) (320) 153

Ministry of 

Charity To Care For 
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It is always intended to report on this function, as an important part of the accountability process, 
even though all overhead costs are fully recovered from the activities supported. Administration is 
not a function in its own right. It exists merely to support work within the ministries and the functions 
that provide income to support that work, such as property development and financial investment. 

Organisational Structure 

Property Development 

At the time of writing this report all 53 lots within Bishops Green sub-division have been sold. Some 
have already settled with other settlements due at various intervals through to February 2006. 

Progress in selling this sub-division was considerably frustrated by stormwater consent matters. At 
the time of receiving consent from the Christchurch City Council to sub-divide the land the Diocese 
had agreed to pay a per lot sum as a contribution towards stormwater infrastructure. This payment 
effectively placed the responsibility for obtaining a consent from Environment Canterbury to 
discharge stormwater squarely with the City Council. Delays in obtaining such consent brought 
about considerable uncertainty as to whether or not building consents could be issued by the 
Christchurch City Council. While all these matters were effectively outside the control of the Diocese, 
it did have real affect, both on the volume of sales and settlement of contracts, until the matters were 
ironed out. These delays have come at some cost (yet to be estimated) both in terms of time, legal 
fees, project costs and lost investment opportunity. 

The sales at Bishops Green and the completion 
of that project means that planning can now 
commence in earnest for developing the 
Diocese’s Rolleston land holding where a consent 
is in place for a 98-lot development.  

Investment 

All cash investments of the Bishop are managed by Goldman Sachs JB Were (NZ) Ltd under an 
advisory arrangement, according to an investment allocation policy authorised by the Management 
and Finance Board and the Christchurch Catholic Diocesan Development Fund from time to time. 

Investment income provided a net return of $787,337 (including the CDF distribution) during the 
reporting period. 
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Statement of Cost of Services - For the Year Ending 30 June 2005 

2004 2005 2005 2006
Actual Budget Actual Budget

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
'000 '000 '000 '000

Operating Income
186 Grants and Donations 60 87 60
469 Allocations 505 495 506

1,329 Investment Income 1,026 1,446 1,355
874 Other Income 3,848 1,072 5,746

2,858 Total 5,439 3,100 7,667

Less Expenditure
509 Personnel Costs 513 514 534

68 Consultancy 54 65 51
55 Depreciation 47 54 54

0 Interest on Loans 0 6 0
172 Other 335 262 344
804 Total 949 901 983

2,054 Net Operating Surplus 4,490 2,199 6,684
324 Non Operating Revenue 246 284 246

2,378 Total Surplus recognised for period 4,736 2,483 6,930

615 Internal Recoveries 601 646 667
(306) Less Internal Charges (313) (325) (342)

309 288 321 325

(910) Net  Transfers (to)/from Special Funds (2,821) (1,255) (5,685)

1,777 Net Surplus (after internal transfers) 2,203 1,549 1,570

(622) Capital Expenditure (1,021) (1,111) (50)
Loan Principal Receipts 375
Loan Principal Repayments (375)

1,155 Net Surplus 1,182 438 1,520
(after internal transfers and capital expenditure)

Net Cost by Activity
0 Diocesan Financial Administrator 0 0 12
0 Cathedral House Building 0 0 1

77 Other Diocesan Properties 925 (24) (6)
0 Administration 0 0 (1)
0 Insurance 0 0 0
0 Funding 0 0 0

926 Other Income 731 784 729
774 Investment Income 547 789 835

1,777 Total Net Cost 2,203 1,549 1,570
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Auditor’s Report 
Catholic Diocese 

of Christchurch 

Auditor's Report 
 
To the Roman Catholic Bishop of Christchurch 
 
We have audited the financial statements on pages 15, 26, 36, 38 and 40 to 54. The financial statements 
provide information about the past financial performance of the Catholic Diocese of Christchurch (the Diocese) 
and its financial position as at 30 June 2005. This information is stated in accordance with the accounting 
policies set out on pages 44 to 46. 
 
Diocesan Management and Finance Board’s Responsibilities 
The Diocesan Management and Finance Board are responsible for the preparation of financial statements 
which comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand and fairly present the financial 
position of the Diocese as at 30 June 2005 and its financial performance for the year ended on that date. 
 
Auditor's Responsibilities 
It is our responsibility to express an independent opinion on the financial statements presented by the 
Diocesan Management and Finance Board and report our opinion to you. 
 
Basis of Opinion 
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements.  It also includes assessing: 
 the significant estimates and judgements made by the Diocesan Management and Finance Board 

in the preparation of the financial statements; and 
 whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the circumstances of the Diocese, consistently 

applied and adequately disclosed. 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in New Zealand.  We 
planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered 
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial 
statements are free from material misstatements, whether caused by fraud or error.  In forming our opinion we 
also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements. 
 

Other than in our capacity as auditor, we have no relationship with, or interest in, the Catholic Diocese of 
Christchurch. 
 
Qualified Opinion 
We have obtained all the information and explanations we have required. 
 

As stated in the Property Plant and Equipment Policy of Note 1, Statement of Accounting Policies, Land and 
Buildings have been revalued on the basis of 2004 government valuations.  Also, the note states depreciation 
has not been charged on the revalued buildings.  These are departures from Financial Reporting Standard - 3, 
Accounting for Property, Plant and Equipment (“FRS – 3”). In accordance with FRS – 3 revalued land and 
buildings are required to be valued to fair value. In accordance with FRS – 3 depreciation is required to be 
charged on revalued land and buildings 
 

In our opinion except for the effect of the departures from FRS - 3 as outlined above, the financial statements 
on pages 15, 26, 36, 38 and 40 to 54: 
 comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and 
 fairly present the financial position of the Diocese as at 30 June 2005 and its financial performance 

for the year ended on that date. 
 

Our audit was completed on 28 September 2005 and our qualified opinion is expressed as at that date. 
 
 
Christchurch 

Chartered Accountants 



Statement of Financial Position - For the Year Ending 30 June 2005 

For and on behalf of the Management and Finance Board, which authorised the issue of the financial 
report on 28 September 2005. 
 
 
 
+John Cunneen 
Roman Catholic Bishop of Christchurch 
 
 
 
G Bailey 
Chairman 

30 June 30 June
2005 2004

Notes '000 '000

Current Assets

  Cash and Bank Balances 602 274
  Receivables and Prepayments 2 966 553
  Stock on Hand 28 25
  Current Portion Investments 3 6,452 7,517
  Property Under Development 4 2,457 2,442

Total Current Assets 10,505 10,811

Non Current Assets

  Investments 3 5,790 4,315
  Property, Plant and Equipment 4 35,969 26,209

Total Non Current Assets 41,759 30,524

Current Liabilities

  Accounts Payable and Accruals 5 694 769
  Income in Advance 118 105
  Current Portion of Non Current Liabilities 6 311 289

Total Current Liabilities 1,123 1,163

Non Current Liabilities 6 3,328 3,110

Net Assets 47,813 37,062

Total Equity 7 47,813 37,062
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Statement of Movements in Equity - For the Year Ending 30 June 2005 

2005 2004
Notes Actual Actual

'000 '000

Opening Equity 37,062 33,431

Net Operating Surplus for the period 3,558 2,979

Other Recognised Revenues and Expenses
Increases/(Decreases) in Revaluation Reserves

Property (Land & Buildings) 7,126 965
Property under Development (209) (144)
Shares 102 (17)

7,019 804

Total Recognised Revenues and Expenses
For the Period 10,577 3,783

Disbursement of Special Purpose Bequest Funds 7 (30) 0
Prior year Adjustmet (Property Revaluation Reserve) 7 0 (600)
Realised Property Revaluations 4 204 448

Closing Equity 7 47,813 37,062
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Statement of Financial Performance - For the Year Ending 30 June 2005 
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2004 2005 2005 2006
Actual Notes Budget Actual Budget

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
'000 '000 '000 '000

Operating Income
658 Grants and Donations 452 841 590
469 Allocations 505 495 506

1,825 Government Grants 8 1,846 1,944 2,087
1,329 Investment Income 1,125 1,446 1,355
2,104 Other Income 9 5,138 2,379 7,330
6,385 Total 9,066 7,105 11,868

Less Expenditure
1,496 Personnel Costs 1,599 1,562 1,895

118 Consultancy 141 129 133
474 Depreciation 498 464 429
127 School Maintenance 0 82 100
239 Interest on Loans 216 216 216

1,276 Other 1,526 1,378 1,540
3,730 Total 3,980 3,831 4,313

2,655 Net Operating Surplus 5,086 3,274 7,555
324 Non Operating Revenue 10 246 284 246

2,979 Total Surplus recognised for period 13 5,332 3,558 7,801

1,008 Internal Recoveries 963 1,114 1,060
(1,008) Less Internal Charges (963) (1,114) (1,060)

0 0 0 0

(726) Net  Transfers (to)/from Special Funds (2,807) (1,242) (5,371)

2,253 Net Surplus (after internal transfers) 11 2,525 2,316 2,430

(2,856) Capital Expenditure 12 (4,231) (4,242) (3,144)
Loan Principal Receipts 556 909 197
Loan Principal Repayments (375)

(603) Net Surplus (1,150) (1,392) (517)
(after internal transfers and capital expenditure)

Net Cost by Activity
(355) Ministry of Liturgy (385) (192) (481)
1,130 Ministry of the Word 934 1,279 1,188
(299) Ministry of Charity (227) (320) 153
1,777 Overheads 2,203 1,549 1,570

2,253 Total Net Cost 2,525 2,316 2,430

The attached notes form part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements 



Statement of Cash Flows - For the Year Ending 30 June 2005 

2005 2004
Note '000 '000

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Cash was provided from:

Grants and Donations Received 841 658
Allocations Received 495 469
Government Grants Received 1,944 1,758
Investment Income Received 897 1,317
Net GST Received 89 0
Other Income Received 1,504 1,246

5,770 5,448
Cash was applied to:

Payments to employees and suppliers 3,071 2,918
Interest Paid 216 239
Net GST Payments 0 15

3,287 3,172

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) From Operating Activities 13 2,483 2,276

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Cash was provided from:

Fixed Assets Sold 2,049 1,184
Decrease in Investments 0 0

2,049 1,184
Cash was applied to:

Acquisition of  Fixed Assets 4,398 2,381
Increase in Investments 320 1,261

4,718 3,642

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) From Investing Activities (2,669) (2,458)

Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Cash was provided from:

Advance of Term Liabilities 919 0
919 0

Cash was applied to:
Repayment of Term Liabilities 375 806
Disbursement of Special Reserves 30 0

405 806

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) From Financing Activities 514 (806)

Net Increase (Decrease) In Cash Funds 328 (988)

Cash balance as at 1 July 274 1,262

Cash balance as at 30 June 602 274

This total is recorded in the financial statements as:
Cash and Bank Balances 602 274
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1. Statement of Accounting Policies 
 

Reporting Entity: 
These financial statements relate to the administration function and other prime responsibilities of 
the Roman Catholic Bishop of the Diocese of Christchurch. There are other assets which are owned 
by the Roman Catholic Bishop of the Diocese of Christchurch as a corporation sole, for example, 
parishes and schools which are not included in these financial statements, except for secondary 
schools' land and buildings which have been recorded together with their corresponding loans. 
 
The financial statements of the Catholic Diocese of Christchurch are a general purpose report which 
has been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices in New Zealand  

Measurement Base: 
The accounting principles recognised as appropriate for the measurement and reporting of financial 
performance and financial position on an historical cost basis have been followed by the Diocese 
with the exception that certain assets have been revalued as specified below. 

Specific Accounting Policies: 
The following specific policies, which materially affect the measurement of financial performance and 
financial position, have been applied: 

a) Differential Reporting 
The Catholic Diocese of Christchurch qualifies for differential reporting because it is not 
publicly accountable and the Roman Catholic Bishop of the Diocese of Christchurch is 
corporation sole under The Roman Catholic Bishops Empowering Act 1997. The Bishop is the 
beneficial owner and governing body for the Diocese. Differential reporting has been applied in 
respect of SSAP 17: Investment Properties and Properties Intended for Sale, FRS 31: 
Disclosure of Information about Financial Instruments, SSAP 23: Financial Reporting for 
Segments and SSAP 22: Related Party Disclosures. 

b) Goods and Services Tax 
These financial statements have been prepared on a GST exclusive basis except for 
Receivables and Payables in the Statement of Financial Position, which are recorded at their 
GST inclusive values. 

c) Income Tax 
The Catholic Diocese of Christchurch is exempt from income taxation under the provisions of 
section CB4 of the Income Tax Act 1994. 

d) Revenue Recognition 
i) Gifts, donations and bequests are recorded as income for the year in which they are 

received. 
ii) Property Sales are recognised at the date of settlement. 

e) Cash 
For the purposes of reporting cash in the statement of cash flows, cash includes cash on hand, 
deposits held at call with banks and investments in money market instruments, which are used 
as part of day to day cash management.  

44    Catholic Diocese of Christchurch  2005 Annual Report Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements 

Catholic Diocese 

of Christchurch Financial Statements 



f) Receivables 
Receivables are stated at their estimated realisable value.  

g) Stock on Hand 
Stock on Hand represents diocesan stationery and Catholic Shop stock on hand as at balance 
date. Stock on hand is stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value, determined on a first 
in, first out basis. 

h) Investments 
Investments (excluding shares) are stated at cost, excluding the amortised portion of any 
premium or discount that may apply. 
The investment in the Catholic Development Fund has been reflected in the financial 
statements on an equity accounting basis, which shows the Catholic Diocese’s share of 
surplus in the statement of financial performance and the increase in net assets, in the 
statement of financial position.  

i) Shares 
Shares have been recorded at market value as at balance date.  Movements in the market 
value of shares have been recorded in a share revaluation reserve. Where there is a debit 
balance in the share revaluation reserve this is written off in the statement of financial 
performance, unless considered to be a temporary diminishment in value only. 

j) Property, Plant & Equipment (including Property Under Development) 
Property, Plant and Equipment, except land & buildings and property under development, have 
been recorded at cost, less accumulated depreciation.  Land and buildings, excluding property 
under development, have been revalued to latest Government Valuations.  Property under 
development has been recorded at expected market value after development, less 
development and marketing costs  as determined by DTZ, Registered Valuers as at 13 April 
2004.  Development costs incurred during the 2005 financial year have been capitalised. 

k) Depreciation 
Depreciation is provided on all property, plant and equipment except land & buildings and 
property under development, which have been revalued.  School Improvements funded by 
monies received from the Ministry of Education for education capital works and maintenance 
are depreciated at rates from 4.8% - 60% diminishing value.  Depreciation rates have been 
calculated to allocate the asset’s cost over the asset's estimated useful life. 

The depreciation rates used for the major asset classes are: 

Computer Software 33% Straight Line 
Electronic Office Equipment 30% Diminishing Value 
Other Office Furniture & Equipment 20% Diminishing Value 
Motor Vehicles 25% Diminishing Value 
Alterations 10% Straight Line 
School Improvements 4.8% - 60% Diminishing Value 
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l) Foreign Currencies 
Transactions in foreign currencies are converted at the New Zealand rate of exchange ruling at 
the date of the transaction. 
At balance date foreign monetary assets are translated at the closing rate, and exchange 
variations arising from these translations are recognised in the statement of financial 
performance.  

m) Suspensory Loans  
Suspensory Loans in respect of diocesan secondary schools have been recorded at their 
historic value less the proportion of the loan forgiven by the Government to date. Suspensory 
Loans are forgiven over a twenty-five year period from the date that the loans were originally 
advanced. 

n) Changes in accounting policies 
There have been no changes in accounting policies.  

2. Receivables and Prepayments 

  2005 2004 
  '000 '000 

      
Trade & Other Debtors 251 357 
Related Party Debtors 550 9 
Interest Receivable 117 106 
GST Receivable 0 47 
Prepayments 48 34 
Total 966 553 

  2005 2004 
  '000 '000 

      
Bank Deposits 2 2 
Catholic Development Fund Deposits 4,713 4,720 
Bonds & Notes 3,980 4,296 

Loans 21 21 
Catholic Development Fund Equity 1,488 1,450 
Shares 1,538 1,343 
Total 12,242 11,832 
      
Less Current Portion (6,452) (7,517) 
Total Non Current Investments 5,790 4,315 

Mortgage 500 0 

3. Investments 

The Market value of Bonds and Notes as at 30 June 2005 is $4,065,277.  (2004 - $4,393,637)  
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4. Property, Plant & Equipment (including Property Under Development)  

Land and Buildings have been valued at latest Government Valuation as at September 2004 except 
for Roncalli College (September 2002), Leeston and Rolleston land (September 2003) and John 
Paul II High School (September 2003).  Additions since valuation are recorded at cost.  

30 June 2005 
Cost or 

Revaluation 
Current 

Yr Depn. 
Accum 
Depn. 

Book 
Value 

  '000 '000 '000 '000 

Land (at valuation) 7,822 0 0 7,822 
Buildings (at valuation) 19,336 0 0 19,336 
Buildings (Work in Progress) 21 0 0 21 
Property under Development 2,457 0 0 2,457 
  29,636 0 0 29,636 
          
Alterations (at cost) 252 19 234 18 
  252 19 234 18 
          
Furniture & Equipment (at cost) 461 73 246 215 
Motor Vehicles (at cost) 334 38 151 183 
School Improvements (at cost) 9,589 333 1,292 8,297 
School Improvements (Work in progress) 77     77 
  10,461 444 1,689 8,772 
Less Current Portion         
Property under Development (2,457) 0 0 (2,457) 
          
Total 37,892 463 1,923 35,969 
          

30 June 2004 
Cost or 

Revaluation 
Current 

Yr Depn. 
Accum 
Depn. 

Book 
Value 

  '000 '000 '000 '000 

Land (at valuation) 5,584 0 0 5,584 
Buildings (at valuation) 13,177 0 0 13,177 
Buildings (Work in Progress) 135 0 0 135 

  21,338 0 0 21,338 
          
Alterations (at cost) 251 20 212 39 
  251 20 212 39 
          
Furniture & Equipment (at cost) 665 75 400 265 
Motor Vehicles (at cost) 274 35 150 124 
School Improvements (at cost) 6,523 344 960 5,563 
School Improvements (Work in progress) 1,322     1,322 
  8,784 454 1,510 7,274 
          
Less Current Portion         
Property under Development (2,442) 0 0 (2,442) 
          
Total 27,931 474 1,722 26,209 

Property under Development 2,442 0 0 2,442 
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Property under development has been recorded at expected market value after development, less 
development and marketing costs as determined by DTZ, Registered Valuers.  Development costs 
incurred during the 2005 financial year have been capitalised. During the year 16 of the 53 
developed sections have been sold. 

Land and buildings contained in fixed assets to the value of $176,000 have been donated for specific 
use as a tertiary chaplaincy centre.  Should the Diocese cease to use the building for the purpose 
specified in the original terms of the donation, ownership of the building will revert to the previous 
owners.  Diocesan management consider the likelihood of this occurring to be remote.  

5. Accounts Payable and Accruals 

  2005 2004 
  '000 '000 

      
Creditors & Accruals 401 540 
Employee Entitlements 145 154 

Other Current Liabilities 87 75 
Total 694 769 

GST Payable 61 0 

6. Non Current Liabilities 

Pre-Suspensory and Suspensory Loans are secured over school land and buildings. The majority of 
the Other Loans and Mortgages are unsecured, being in respect of properties owned by the Catholic 
Diocese.  

Pre-Suspensory loans are with Ichthus Limited. The interest rate is 7.5% p.a.  These loans will be 
repaid by the year 2013. 

Suspensory Loans are forgiven by the Government over a twenty-five year period; these loans are 
interest free and will be forgiven by the year 2023. Loans forgiven in 2005 amounted to $188,052. 

Other Loans are held with the Catholic Development Fund.  The current interest rates on these loans 
vary from 0% p.a. to 6.35% p.a. 

  2005 2004 
  '000 '000 

      
Pre-Suspensory Loans 520 603 
Suspensory Loans 2,228 2,416 
Other Loans 530 0 
Future GST Liability 361 380 
Total 3,639 3,399 
     
Less Current Portion (311) (289) 
Total Non Current Liabilities 3,328 3,110 
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7. Equity 
 

Equity is made up of general equity, special purpose funds and revaluation reserves.  The special 
purpose funds result from: 

• bequests that have restrictions over their use; 
• contractual funding for specific purposes; 
• decisions taken by the Diocesan Management and 

Finance Board to set funds aside for a specific 
purpose. 

During the year $30,000 of these funds were disbursed (repaid). 

Sufficient cash and investment balances are retained to cover these special purpose funds.  

Equity 2005 2004 
  '000 '000 
      
General Equity 24,299 21,772 
Special Purpose Funds 5,909 4,704 
Revaluation Reserves 17,605 10,586 
Total Equity 47,813 37,062 
      

Special Purpose Funds 2005 2004 
 '000 '000 

Education - Diocesan School Capital & Maintenance Programme 889 891 
Education - Attendance Dues 185 142 
Education - General 480 474 
Youth 39 39 
Youth & Education 97 90 
Catholic Social Services 636 547 
Pastoral - Missionary 63 58 
Pastoral - Ongoing Formation, Education & Seminary 349 328 
Aged Care - Armstrong Village 187 147 
Bishop's Capital Health Fund  (90% Income distributed 

to Clergy Health Fund) 
175 174 

Gamblins Rd  (Income distributed to Cathedral 
College Proprietors Trust Board) 

1,018 1,018 

CCJP 12 12 
Darfield Parish 85 78 
Chatham Island Parish 15 14 
Bishops Green Property Reserve 1,601 624 
Other 78 68 
Total Special Purpose Funds 5,909 4,704 

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements Catholic Diocese of Christchurch  2005 Annual Report    49 

Notes to the Accounts 
Catholic Diocese 

of Christchurch 



Revaluation Reserves 2005 2004 
  '000 '000 

      
Property Revaluation Reserve     
      

Opening Balance 9,807 9,442 
Movement during the year 7,126 965 
Prior Year Adjustment 0 (600) 
Closing Balance 16,933 9,807 
      
      
Property under Development Revaluation Reserve 
      

Opening Balance 692 836 
Movement during the year (209) (144) 
Closing Balance 483 692 
      
      
Share Revaluation Reserve     
      

Opening Balance 87 104 
Movement during the year 102 (17) 
Closing Balance 189 87 

Property Revaluation Reserve – Prior Year Adjustment 

During the 2003 year, the Diocese revalued land and buildings.  The value of one of these properties 
was overstated by $600,000. 

8. Government Grants 

Government Grants are received from the Ministry of Education for major capital and maintenance 
work to be undertaken within the Diocesan schools; and from the Child Youth and Family Service for 
foster care and other services provided by Catholic Social Services. 

9. Other Income 

  2005 2004 
  '000 '000 

      
Education (Attendance Dues, Religious Education 

Fees & Foreign Fee Paying Students) 
754 763 

Catholic Shop Sales 142 131 
Cathedral Trust 24 9 
Prison Chaplaincy Service 52 47 
Programmes & Events (Youth & Education) 53 57 
Gain on Property Sales 994 787 
Other Income 360 310 
Total 2,379 2,104 
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10. Non Operating Income 

Non Operating Income includes items of a non operating nature and is separately disclosed so as 
not to distort the results from normal operating activities.  Non operating revenue is made up of the 
reduction in school loans and the amount forgiven on suspensory loans during the financial year. 

11. Net Operating Surplus/(Deficit) 

  2005 2004 
  '000 '000 

After Charging:    
Auditor's Fees - Audit Fees 8 7 
Auditor's Fees - Other Services 0 0 
Donations Expense 0 0 
Interest Expense 217 239 
Lease Expense 4 8 
Bad Debts Written Off 14 0 
Provision for Doubtful Debts (32) 54 
Loss on Sale of Assets 49 0 
     
Including:    
Interest Revenue 540 536 
Dividend Revenue 55 42 
Gain on Sale of Assets 1,002 787 

12. Capital Expenditure 

  2005 2004 
  '000 '000 
      
Diocesan Schools 1,821 2,032 
Land & Buildings 1,159 144 
Property Under Development 1,077 559 
Computer Equipment 54 84 
Vehicles 109 14 
Other Plant & Equipment 22 23 
  4,242 2,856 
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13. Reconciliation of Net Surplus with Cash flows from Operating Activities 
  

  2005   2004 
   '000    '000 
        
Net Surplus 3,558          2,979 

Add/(Less) Non Cash Items:       
Depreciation 464   474 
Non  Operating Revenue (Loans forgiven)           (284)        (324) 
(Gain)/Loss on Sale of Asset (953)       (777) 
Amortisation of Investment Discount/Premium             (12)   (11) 
           2,773       2,341 
        
Movements in Other Working Capital Items:       
Decrease/(Increase) in Prepayments (14)   20 
Decrease/(Increase) in Accounts Receivable (446)   (237) 
Decrease/(Increase) in Stock (3)   (1) 
Decrease/(Increase) in GST Receivable 0   (1) 

(Decrease)/Increase in Accounts Payable (127)   270 
(Decrease)/Increase in Holiday Pay (9)   32 
(Decrease)/Increase in Income in Advance 13   (56) 
  (478)   27 
        
Plus Fixed Assets in Accounts Receivable 0  100 
Less Fixed Assets in Accounts Payable 188   (192) 
  (188)  (92) 
Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities 2,483   2,276 
        

    

Decrease/(Increase) in GST Payable 108  0 
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14. Catholic Development Fund 

The Catholic Development Fund (CDF) is a charitable trust.  It provides a facility for investors to 
deposit funds, and a loan facility for Catholic objectives.  The CDF is 100% controlled by and is part 
of the operations of the Catholic Diocese of Christchurch.  The investment in the CDF has been 
reflected in the financial statements on an equity accounting basis.   

The Roman Catholic Bishop of the Diocese of Christchurch provides a guarantee in respect of 
depositors funds placed with the Catholic Development Fund. The likelihood of this guarantee being 
called is considered to be remote.  

Catholic Development Fund 2005 2004 
  '000 '000 

  (31 March) (31 March) 

      
Surplus 588 565 
     
Distribution to Diocese 550 530 
     
Retained Surplus 38 35 
      
      
Diocese Investment in CDF: (30 June) (30 June) 

Opening Carrying Amount 1,450 1,415 
     
Closing Carrying Amount 1,488 1,450 

   

15. Related Party Transactions 

The Catholic Diocese of Christchurch invests funds in the Catholic Development Fund.   The 
Diocese provides assistance to the Fund in managing its day to day operations.  In October 2002 the 
Management and Finance Board of the Diocese resolved to stop charging the Fund for these 
services.  An annual distribution was received from the Fund.  Interest on deposits is received from 
and interest on loans has been paid to the Fund.  No debts were forgiven or written off during the 
period.  

16. Contingent Liabilities 

A contingent liability exists in respect of suspensory loans, which become repayable to the extent of 
any outstanding balance on a loan if a school closes before the loan is forgiven. The contingent 
liability as at 30 June 2005 was $2,898,562 (2004: $3,111,228) in respect of primary school loans. 
Diocesan secondary school loans of $2,228,102 (2004: $2,416,155) are recorded as a liability in the 
balance sheet.  The likelihood of any schools closing is considered remote. 

The Diocese has received notice of possible claims relating to associated entities. The Diocese is 
presently discussing these claims with their legal advisors. The financial effect is unable to be 
quantified.  
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17. Capital Commitments 

As at 30 June 2005 there are capital commitments for the following: 

  2005 2004 
  '000 

  

'000 

School Improvements 612 1,903 
     
Cathedral Strengthening 0     513 
     
Bishops Green 0 1,103 
     
Total Amount 612 3,519 

18. Events Subsequent to Balance Date 

Subsequent to balance date 36 of the remaining sections in Bishop’s Green (Property under 
Development) have been sold.  

19. Comparative Figures 

Comparative figures for 2004 have been restated to correspond with the current year’s presentation.  
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Principles 

The New Zealand Catholic Bishops’ Conference has adopted a range of employment policies based 
on equity and justice principles. The Code of Canon Law talks about “principles taught by the 
Church, the civil laws relating to labour and social life” and “a just and honest wage”.  These policies 
are very much aligned with “equal employment opportunity” as we understand that term. The 
Diocese is committed to such policies. 

A very important part of the workforce of the Diocese and the Parishes that form the Diocese is the 
involvement of volunteers. The Bishop and his agencies simply could not function without this 
generous input. Bishop John thanks all of those that give of their time so willingly and freely. 

The involvement of volunteers in our work also places significant responsibilities on those that 
engage volunteers to ensure that they are asked only to undertake tasks that are within their 
capability, to ensure that they are adequately supervised and supported and on those that 
volunteer to ensure that they understand and respect the rules of engagement and the values of the 
organisation and colleagues that they work for and alongside. 

The New Zealand Catholic Bishops’ Conference has issued model guidelines for the engagement of 
volunteers. The Diocese is committed to these guidelines. 

Overview of legal, employment and financial matters 
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Manager
Catholic 

Education Office 

Director
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Youth Team 
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Catholic 

Social Services 

The Diocesan 
Financial 

Administrator 

Personal 
Assistant 

Finance 
Manager 

Funding 
Co-ordinator 

Chaplaincies
• Prison 

Chaplains (4)
• Hospital 

Chaplains (3)

Receptionists 
(2) 

Cleaning 
Staff 

• Diocesan 
Accountant 

• Accounts Clerk 
• CDF Customer 

Services Officer 

• Thanksgiving 
Programme 
Advisor 

• CDF Promotions 
Officer 

• Religious Education 
Advisors (2) 

• Parish & 
Sacramental 
Programme Advisor 

• Special Character 
Advisor 

• Property Officer 

• Young Adults 
Worker 

• Parish Field Worker 
• Events Coordinator 

• Supervising Social 
Worker 

• Counsellors / Social 
Workers (5) 

• Receptionist 
• Cleaning Staff 
• Volunteers 

-  Foodbank (7) 
-  General 
-  Budget Advisors/ 

Advocates (3) 

Personal
Assistant 



Current Employee Information 

Of 42 employees  (31.52 FTE’s) 26% are male and 74% female. 

Female employees fill one third of senior management positions 
 
  
Training Development 

The Diocese has a commitment to providing training opportunities to staff to complement their 
professional development and contribute to their effectiveness as employees. Such opportunities 
include study leave, examination leave, and attendance at conferences, seminars and workshops. 

Health and Safety 

No time was lost due to workplace accidents. Sick leave amounted to approximately 1195 hours or 
around 1.9% of total available work time. 

Staff Retention 

Five resignations were received during the year. Three were filled in an open advertising process. It 
was decided not to fill one while the remaining vacancy was filled through invitation. 
 
  
 
  
Employee retention was around 88%. 

Female 

Male 

Resignations 
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The Diocesan operation has low impact on the natural environment. The administrative 
headquarters endorses recycling consistent with that promoted by the Christchurch City Council. In 
the main this is paper, cardboard, newspapers and publications and staff cafeteria waste. Garden 
waste is composted. 
 
 
 
Diocesan schools use the natural environment as part of their learning programmes. This extract 
from St James School, Aranui, website is an excellent example of “hands-on” involvement: 
 
 

“The Bexley Wetland area forms an important part of our learning 
programme. We constantly visit, study and care for this important 
natural heritage site and it is used as a basis for many parts of our 
local curriculum. 
 
Children have also planted and nurtured seeds and then the whole 
school visited the Wetland on Conservation Day to plant the 
seedlings. This was part of our work during ‘Clean Up The World 
Day’. 

A remarkable change has come over this Wetland due to the Bexley 
Wetland Trust, the children of St James School and local community 
groups. This is a case of a community taking control of a heritage 
site. We are very happy we were invited to take part. 

Trees for Canterbury and the Bexley Wetland Trust have, for the past 
5 years, maintained a planting and maintenance programme with the 
children at the wetland site. 

Lianne Dalziel, our local MP, often joins us to plant along with the 
children. 

One of the local City Council Park Rangers oversees the children's 
plantings now. Previously a member of the Bexley Wetland Trust 
instructed the children on what to plant, where, and why each plant 
was chosen. Many people have been planting, striving to restore this 
wetland and St James students like to join in with them to make a 
better world. 

It is an excellent resource used extensively across the curriculum for 
teaching and learning. The Bexley Wetland has so much to offer 
students. They are able to study the different wildlife of the area and 
see how, over time, their work of planting and restoring helps to bring 
back more and more birdlife each year.” 11 
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It is in the physical environment that the Diocese has much to contribute. Many of its churches 
form such a valuable part of the heritage fabric of communities. The Diocese through its parishes 
and with increasing support from local communities, City and District Councils, Community Trusts 
and the Lottery Grants Board, has done much to maintain and preserve its significant buildings. 
Recent and planned projects in this pictorial review include the significant seismic strengthening 
work undertaken on the Cathedral of the Blessed Sacrament, the mother church of the Diocese 
referred to in the Chairman’s Report on page 10 and St Patrick’s Church, Waimate, where the local 
St Patrick’s Church Restoration Trust, under the chairmanship of John Foley, is working so hard to 
get stage one (nave roof, guttering and earthquake strengthening) off the ground. 
 
In the people environment the Diocese does much to reflect the teachings of Christ, in the way we 
care, the way we teach and the way that we love; in helping to build a better society. 
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Christchurch Catholic Diocesan Development Fund 

Established as a charitable trust in 1967. The purpose of the Fund is to receive deposits from 
members of the Diocesan parish community, corporates, parishes and religious orders for the 
purpose of investing in Catholic development (schools buildings, parish centres, churches etc). The 
Fund has been very successful in building deposits. As at 31st March 2005 depositors’ funds 
amounted to $22,320,000. 

The Fund operates by paying depositors lower than market interest rates and loaning funds at lower 
than market rates for the purposes previously mentioned. The margin applied between interest paid 
and interest received, together with the margin generated by investing surplus funds at market rates 
has enabled the Trust Board to substantially support, by way of a cash distribution (a dividend), 
Diocesan operations. The distribution in this reporting period amounted to $550,000. 

The Christchurch Catholic Diocesan Development Fund has a reported equity of $1,488,000.  As at 
31st March 2005 the total investment portfolio amounted to $20,829,000. This includes loans for 
Catholic development purposes amounting to $2,383,000. 

The Trust Board is: 
 

 George Macfarlane, Chairman, (Trustee) 
 Desmond Boyle (Trustee) 
 Derek Craze (Trustee) 
 Simon Roughan (Trustee) 
 Philip Baird (Trustee) 
 Jack O’Donnell (Trustee) 
 Bishop John Cunneen (Trustee) 
 Reverend Monsignor Gerard O’Connor (Board Member) 

Maryville Courts Trust Board 

Established in 1983 the principal objective of the Maryville Courts Trust 
Board is “to offer an independent lifestyle for those seeking 
companionship, safety and comfort”. 

Located on the corner of Salisbury and Manchester Streets, Christchurch, 
some 65 units are available under licence to occupy. 

The village is a retirement village subject to the 
Securities Act 1978, the Securities Act (Retirement 
Villages Exemptions Notice) 1999 and the Securities 
Regulations 1983. The village is also regulated by the 
Retirement Villages Act 2003. 

As at the last report period, 30th June 2005, the Trust 
has reported equity of $4,178,809. 
The Bishop is the sole beneficiary of the Trust should it 
be dissolved. 
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The current Trustees are; 

 Brian Phillips (Chairman) 
 Paddy Beban 
 John Callaghan 
 Allan Dalton 
 Matthew Glubb 
 George Macfarlane 
 Thomas McCullough 
 Reverend Bill Middleton 
 Noleen Sheehan 

The Christchurch Diocesan Foundation 

The Christchurch Diocesan Foundation is registered under the Charitable Trust Act 1957, and 
administered by a Board of Management. 
 
The focus of the Trust is to attract legacies or gifts and invest those funds over the long-term to build 
up assets including capital and property, and to use the income generated from those assets to 
continue and develop the pastoral work of the Bishop. 
 
The Trust has built up equity of $2.4 million. In this reporting period it distributed $60,000 to the 
Bishop for his pastoral work. The distribution has been consistent at that level for a number of years 
now. 
 
Members of the Foundation’s Board of Management are: 
 

 D J Boyle (Chairman) 
 F S Blogg (Associate Trustee) (RIP) 
 B Brankin (Member) 
 Bishop John Cunneen (Trustee) 
 K B Fowke (Trustee) 
 H Duckworth (Trustee) 
 D Langley (Trustee) 
 R D Maskill (Associate Trustee) 
 A F McDonald (Trustee) 
 J Mullis (Member on behalf of the Catholic Women’s League) 
 J M Lawlor (Trustee) 
 J Strassmeyer (Trustee) 
 J A Tasman (Associate Trustee) 
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 The Roman Catholic 
Bishop of Christchurch 

The College of 
Consultors 

Building and Sites 
Committee 

The Council 
of Priests 

The Diocesan Management 
and Finance Board 

Investment 
Subcommittee 

Property 
Subcommittee 

The Diocesan 
Education 

Council 

The Diocesan 
Youth Council 
(to be formed) 

The Diocesan 
Welfare 
Council 

Diocesan Governance Structure 

Legal Background 

Canon Law 
The Code of Canon Law provides at: 

Canon 375 § 1: 
“By divine institution, Bishops succeed the Apostles through the Holy Spirit who is given to 
them. They are constituted Pastors in the Church, to be the teachers of doctrine, the priests 
of sacred worship and the ministers of governance.” 
Canon 381 § 1: 
“In the diocese entrusted to his care, the diocesan Bishop has all the ordinary, proper and 
immediate power required for the exercise of his pastoral office, except in those matters 
which the law or a decree of the Supreme Pontiff reserves to the supreme or to some other 
ecclesiastical authority.” 

Civil Law 
Section 5 of the Roman Catholic Bishops Empowering Act 1997 provides: 

“The Bishop of a diocese is a corporation sole, with perpetual succession and a seal of 
office, and has and may exercise all the rights, powers and privileges, and may incur all 
liabilities, of a natural person of full age and capacity.” 
Underpinning those provisions is Catholic Social Teaching, in particular the important principle of 
“subsidiarity”, as elaborated upon by the Church “a community of a higher order should not 
interfere in the internal life of a community of a lower order, depriving the latter of its 
functions, but rather should support it in case of need and help to co-ordinate its activity with 
the activities of the rest of society, always with a view to the common good.”12 

Within that environment the Bishop exercises his governance responsibilities through advice, 
consultation and consensus. 

12 Catechism of the Catholic Church, paragraph 1883 

The chart illustrates the various Boards, Agencies and Councils that have been established by the 
Bishop to assist him with his governance responsibilities. Of the four areas that have an immediate 
reporting, consultative and accountability relationship, only the Building and Sites Committee is not a 
direct requirement of the Code of Canon Law. 
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The Bishop appoints the Management and Finance Board. Its members are generally appointed 
for a term of three years. Its role is explained in the Chairman’s introduction on page 10. 
 
The Bishop appoints the College of Consultors, no fewer than six nor more than twelve, generally 
for a term of five years. The functions of the College are prescribed in the Code of Canon Law. In the 
main, in terms of authority, the College’s role is largely consultative and advisory, although in certain 
major administrative instances, such as approval of the Diocesan budget, the Bishop is required to 
seek the consent of the College before he can act. The College generally meets monthly and on an 
“as required” basis. 
 
The Council of Priests comprises a group of priests, about half elected by the priests of the 
Diocese, others by virtue of office and others appointed by the Bishop. 
 
The Council membership, as at balance date, was: 
 

President  Bishop John Cunneen 

Chairman Reverend John Fitzmaurice 

Deputy Chairman Reverend Monsignor Barry Jones 

Regional Reps Reverend Steve Lowe South Canterbury 
 Reverend Peter Costello West Coast 
 Reverend Monsignor Gerard O’Connor  Eastern Christchurch 
 Reverend John Morrison Southern Christchurch 
 Reverend John Fitzmaurice North West Christchurch 

Religious Rep Reverend Peter Blake SM 

Appointed Members Reverend Monsignor Barry Jones  
 Reverend William Grounds  (RIP - 16.04.05) 
 Reverend Bede Haughey  

Ex Officio Reverend Monsignor James Harrington Chancellor 

Secretary Reverend Peter Ewart SM 
 
Elections are held generally every two or three years. The Council meets at least four times a year 
and at such other times determined by the Bishop. 
 
The Council’s principle role is to assist the Bishop in the governance of the Diocese. It has both an 
advisory and consultative role and a consent role. 
 
The other Sub-Committees or Councils illustrated in the chart are special purpose groups 
(generally reflected in the name of the group) established or approved by the Bishop to report in an 
advisory capacity through the Diocesan Management and Finance Board. These groups generally 
operate with a formal mandate. They meet mostly monthly or as required. 
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The Bishop acknowledges, and is grateful for, the goodwill of his parishes and the wider community 
through their generosity in giving of legacies, grants, trusts and donations. These are an important 
part of the income he receives and help to support and compliment his pastoral mission. 
  
To those who share in his mission and continue to support the work of his priests, his most sincere 
thanks. 
  

Donations & Grants 

 Blogg Charitable Trust 
 K A Boyd Estate 
 The Phillip Brown Fund 
 Burrows Brothers Charitable Trust 
 Maurice Carter Trust 
 The Canterbury Community Trust 
 Chapel of the Snows (Antarctica) 
 Child, Youth & Family Department 
 The Christchurch Diocesan Foundation 
 Christchurch Casinos Charitable Trust 
 Christchurch City Council 
 Crothall Charitable Trust 
 J & M Ferrier Trust 
 Jones Foundation 
 John Ilott Charitable Trust 
 Edith Kennedy Fund 
 Hyman Marks Trust 
 Lion Foundation 
 Lottery Youth 
 Lucas Trust 
 Meehan Estate 
 Alex McDonald Merchants Ltd 
 Merivale Fresh Choice 
 Microsoft Foundation 
 M & M Mullin Trust 
 New Zealand Lottery Grants Board 
 B L & P M O’Leary 
 Perry’s Café 
 Riccarton Youth Trust 

The Diocesan Giving Model 

YO
UR

 P
AR

IS
H 

DIOCESAN FOUNDATION PASTORAL MISSION 

 Parishes of the Diocese by way of the Parish Allocation 

 Those regular donors to the work of Catholic Social Services, Catholic Youth Team 
and other Agencies of the Catholic Diocese of Christchurch. 

 

 Rochester Hall Trust Board Inc. 
 Bernard Ryan 
 Scottwood Group 
 George Sevicke Jones Estate 
 Sisters of the Good Shepherd 
 South City New World 
 Robert & Barbara Stewart Trust 
 Telstra Clear (Line Discounts) 
 Tindall Foundation 
 William Toomey Charitable Trust 
 J Twigger Trust 
 Alfonso & Enid Charitable Weaver Foundation 
 The Wool Lady Trust 
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Year Ending Year Ending Year Ending Year Ending Mass Count
PARISH 31 March 2002 31 March 2003 31 March 2004 31 March 2005 October 2004
ADDINGTON 55,279 58,773 59,246 58,172 313
AKAROA 10,103 9,335 8,859 9,878 48
ARANUI 6,790 5,920 9,265 9,188 66
ASHBURTON 85,060 85,949 80,322 76,376 267
BECKENHAM 58,128 57,605 61,489 63,463 220
BISHOPDALE 50,320 46,692 56,527 53,110 198
BRYNDWR 71,536 71,515 65,424 77,479 205
BURNSIDE 159,780 159,314 152,659 151,659 802
BURWOOD 35,246 44,937 40,653 42,783 194
CATHEDRAL 76,939 71,000 80,838 98,009 518
CHATHAM ISLANDS 3,800 3,800 3,800 840 14
CHCH NORTH 79,685 80,047 92,314 76,767 371
CHEVIOT 12,239 15,511 16,570 14,875 65
DALLINGTON 77,979 76,147 79,121 80,353 359
DARFIELD 12,887 12,809 12,172 12,371 67
FAIRLIE 12,942 21,299 18,606 16,241 58
GERALDINE 16,167 15,278 14,328 15,007 65
GREY VALLEY / NGAHERE  7,961 11,385 8,872 8,089 29
GREYMOUTH 86,555 76,391 90,281 84,635 238
HALSWELL 32,040 34,013 32,447 31,966 198
HANMER        2,149 1,611 1,581 1,745 27
HAWARDEN 9,925 9,818 8,553 8,703 33
HOKITIKA 36,878 35,205 32,992 36,963 138
HOLY CROSS CHAPEL 7,570 8,113 7,279 8,653 -
HOON HAY 55,560 60,555 58,727 48,398 135
HORNBY 32,784 38,289 37,070 37,001 294
KAIAPOI 39,527 34,997 35,901 34,567 170
KOREAN COMMUNITY - - 49,884 49,584 222
KUMARA 3,381 3,448 3,295 3,467 14
LEESTON 11,452 13,365 10,256 11,235 48
LINCOLN 21,739 21,642 23,204 32,815 127
LYTTELTON 12,138 8,839 12,921 13,530 57
MAIREHAU 48,629 50,714 59,278 66,388 281
METHVEN 12,469 12,899 12,769 14,555 66
NEW BRIGHTON 14,991 17,361 17,012 15,616 84
PAPANUI 108,931 113,822 132,139 131,951 542
PLEASANT POINT 14,764 10,062 16,685 16,841 43
RAKAIA 6,877 7,355 6,446 7,328 29
RANGIORA 63,434 66,103 65,905 73,708 299
RICCARTON 100,705 96,834 108,848 108,312 440
RUNANGA/COBDEN 10,270 9,493 9,377 8,535 36
SOCKBURN 124,948 121,172 125,077 131,482 635
SOUTH WESTLAND 11,623 14,860 13,685 14,850 51
ST ALBANS  35,353 35,163 37,553 40,245 119
SUMNER 23,119 24,979 29,168 46,381 120
TEMUKA 28,373 35,956 35,267 37,242 176
TIMARU NORTH 78,170 77,900 78,517 81,323 393
TIMARU SOUTH 86,676 82,657 89,461 88,141 345
TINWALD 14,784 14,434 15,214 14,687 80
TWIZEL  5,223 6,358 6,436 6,692 20
WAIMATE 26,744 27,687 25,069 25,069 115
WOOLSTON 53,132 49,961 50,416 48,752 273

TOTAL 2,053,753 2,069,369 2,199,776 2,246,020 9,707

Parish Second Collection Returns



The Diocese was pleased to receive 
the following commendation from the 

New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants 
at the Institute’s 2005 Annual Report Awards 

held at Wellington in June. 
 

“The Diocese’s report received a commendation 
for the extent of its non-financial information. 
This area showed a significant improvement, 

with much more focus on the purpose of the report 
and what it is reporting on.” 

 
The Diocese was also a finalist in the 

2004 Annual Report Awards. 

We would like to acknowledge the following who contributed photographs for this report: 
Reverend Chris Friel, Reverend Chris Orr, Christ the King School (Burnside), St James School (Aranui) and various agencies and 
departments of the Catholic Diocese of Christchurch. 



* 

Seven Secrets of Successful 

Stewards 

 

Give until it feels good 
 

See not obligation but opportunity 
 

Give to specifics 
 

Have an ‘attitude of gratitude’ 
 

Share various gifts at the right times 
 

Realise God will point the way 
 

See stewardship as a spiritual act 
 

* Paul Wilkes - St Anthony Messenger Press - August 2005 


